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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of KML Technology
Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this annual report
misleading.

This report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the
Company’s website at www.kml.com.hk.
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Chairman’s Statement
EEHME

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the“Group”), | am pleased to present the annual
results of the Group for year ended 31 March 2021.

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021 slightly
increased by approximately HK$0.6 million, or approximately 0.3% from
approximately HK$224.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$224.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The
Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$64.2 million for the
year ended 31 March 2021, representing a decrease of approximately
10.0% as compared with approximately HK$71.3 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020. The project performance was hampered due
to the precautionary measures implemented both by the Hong Kong
society as a whole and by our internal arrangement. However, with the
government subsidy and better cost control, improvement of our net profit
this year was achieved. Net profit of the Group increased to approximately
HK$32.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 as compared with
approximately HK$21.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2020.

In March 2021, the Group was awarded a new contract on the replacement
of smoke curtains at East Rail Line (ERL) and West Rail Line (WRL) with
contract value of approximately HK$61.8 million. The preceding contract
was awarded to the Group in September 2018 on the replacement and
modification of smoke curtains at the Airport Express Line (AEL) and Tung
Chung Line (TCL) with contract value at approximately HK$70.0 million
and will be substantially completed at the second half of year 2021. We are
delighted that our customer is satisfied with our performance in the Airport
Express Line and Tung Chung Line and confident to award us another
contract of similar kind at other railway lines.

Meanwhile, the project of implementation of quick access code (“QR
Code”) for Travel on the MTR was substantially completed during the
year. The 3-year maintenance contract on the automatic fare collection
(“AFC”) equipment awarded at year 2015, and subsequently extended
for another 3 years will be completed during the financial year ending
2022. The Group is keen and confident to pursue the continuance of this
maintenance contract and expect that the revenue generated from our
maintenance contracts will maintain a steady growth.

While continuing to work on our electrical and mechanical (“E&M”)
engineering and maintenance projects, the Group has been putting more
efforts further promoting our technical capabilities such as devoting
resources on the implementation of building information modelling (“BIM”)
and started applying virtual reality (VR), augmented reality (AR) and
mixed reality (MR) technologies in providing training and real time on-line
supports to our frontline maintenance staff. By bringing the advanced
technologies to our daily operation, we expect that our competitive
strengths will be enhanced and operation efficiency will be improved.
In addition, the Group continues to put more efforts in research and
development (“R&D”) including (i) to develop software-based solution
to broadcast the expected arrival time of ferries at ferry terminals; (ii) to
apply robotic technology to transport the cash and banknote vault from
ticket vending machines to the station audit rooms in order to reduce the
human efforts to handle weighty objects; and (iii) to study the feasibility
of producing a kiosk to handle ePayment transactions which could
accept various ePayment methods including Octopus, various mobile
and online payment methods and EMV cards. We expect that our efforts
in R&D could on the one hand to catch up with the market demand and
create more business opportunities, while to increase the efficiency and
effectiveness of some of our working procedures.
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Chairman’s Statement
TREHRE

Apart from these, the Group has actively participated in campaigns
organised by different governmental bodies. KML Engineering Limited
(‘KML Engineering”), a principal subsidiary of our Company, has been
awarded the Gold Certificate of the inaugural Privacy-Friendly Awards
and Equal Opportunity Employer for Gender Equality and Family Status
Equality by the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data Hong Kong and
Equal Opportunities Commission Hong Kong respectively. The Group has
been and will continue to be a socially responsible employer.

Year 2020 was a challenging year. Under the midst of worldwide
pandemic of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), global economy has
gone through a tough and challenging period. As the Group has taken
timely and effective prevention and control measures to minimise the
chance of our employees being infected and operation being suspended,
COVID-19 pandemic has not caused material financial impacts to the
Group up to the date of this report. The Group will closely monitor the
trend of global environment and react actively to its impact to the Group
and keep our stakeholders updated on the same.

Finally, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to the relentless
support of shareholders of our Company (the “Shareholders”), investors,
suppliers, customers and business partners, and especially our dedicated
staff members for their commitment and contributions throughout the
year. The management team and all staff members of the Group will
continue to strive for better results for the Group and maximise values for
our Shareholders.

KML Technology Group Limited
Luk Kam Ming

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 17 June 2021
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nanoal nghllghts
BIERE

Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted
to approximately Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) 224.8 million (2020:
approximately HK$224.2 million).

Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to
approximately HK$64.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$7.1 million or approximately 10.0% as compared with approximately
HK$71.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The net profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted
to approximately HK$32.0 million (2020: approximately HK$21.6 million).

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.73 cents
per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: HK2.0 cents).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN R D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has been providing E&M engineering solutions and services
in Hong Kong for over 40 years. Our principal business is the provision
of E&M engineering works, and comprises (i) E&M engineering solutions
and services on Transportation Mission Critical Systems Solutions and
other E&M engineering solutions and services; (i) E&M engineering design
and fabrication services; (i) E&M engineering maintenance services; and
(iv) sales of parts and components. Depending on our customers’ needs
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and requirements, we provide a full spectrum of solutions and services A
covering design, equipment assembly, supply, installation, fabrication,

testing, and commissioning and maintenance support with a focus on

Hong Kong Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions.

The following table sets forth the details of our Group’s revenue by type of
projects and services we undertook for the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020: 15

Type of Projects

BRREGHRTR

FREIARBENBE-F=—F R
=t— Hifﬁrﬁﬁg@iﬂﬁlﬁﬁ&HE;’]’%*E%\J?V e

For the year ended 31 March

—FF=H

EHEER BE=A=1—HILEE
2021 2020
—B-—f —EEF
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
FET FET

E&M Engineering Solutions 4T TIRARA T R RS

and Services
- Transportation Mission Critical — AR R AR

System Solutions ES 66,839 29.7 51,615 23.0
— Other E&M Engineering Solutions *,HJW% s TI2fRR

and Services Esdiler 111,817 49.7 132,886 59.3
Subtotal INEE 178,656 79.4 184,501 82.3
E&M Engineering Design and WEITIRRETRE

Fabrication Services A7 8,363 3.7 4,434 2.0
E&M Engineering Maintenance WEIRRERS

Services 36,551 16.3 34,354 i{I5%3)
Sale of Parts and Components SHE T R 1,269 0.6 939 0.4
Total st 224,839 100.0 224,228 100.0
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN Wk

E&M Engineering Solutions and Services segment accounts for the largest
business segment of our Group’s business. Approximately 79.4% of the
revenue was attributable to this segment for the year ended 31 March
2021. Some major projects of this segment include (i) replacement and
upgrading of AFC gates and ticket issuing machines; (ii) replacement
and modification of smoke curtains at the Airport Express Line (AEL) and
Tung Chung Line (TCL); and (iii) application of QR Code for Travel on
the MTR. The second largest segment is E&M Engineering Maintenance
Services. Revenue from this segment increased by approximately 6.4%
from approximately HK$34.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$36.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. Major
maintenance projects include maintenance services for AFC and access
control system (ACS) equipment, maintenance services for AFC equipment
at Shatin Central Link (SCL) and maintenance services for signalling
equipment for Express Rail Link (XRL). The 3-year maintenance contract
on the AFC equipment awarded to us at year 2015, and subsequently
extended for another 3 years will be completed during the financial year
ending 2022. This 3+3 maintenance contract generated the Group with a
revenue over HK$70 million. The Group is keen and confident to pursue
the continuance of this maintenance contract and expect that the revenue
generated from our maintenance contracts will maintain a steady growth.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has submitted 339
tenders and quotations to our customers (2020: 325 tenders and
quotations) with 135 contracts being awarded (2020: 165 contracts)
including (i) supply of AFC equipment for a new station at the Taoyuan
Airport MRT; (i) supply and installation charging facilities for electric
vehicles in a public carpark; (i) provision of electrical supervision work for
part of a new Integrated Waste Management Facilities Project in Hong
Kong; and (iv) replacement of smoke curtains at East Rail Line (ERL) and
West Rail Line (WRL) Stations.

In respect of promoting social responsibility, our Group participated
various campaign and activities during the year. For example, (i)
KML Engineering was recognised as a “Construction Industry Caring
Organisation” by the Construction Industry Council (“CIC”); (ii) KML
Engineering participated the “Life First” campaign organised by the CIC;
and (i) KML Engineering signed the “Mental Health Workplace Charter”
jointly organised by the Department of Health, the Labour Department and
the Occupational Safety and Health Council, and was commended as a
“Mental Health Friendly Supreme Organisation”.

In response to the outbreak of COVID-19, a working group has been set
up to regularly review the pandemic condition, coordinate and arrange
various provision of services including supply of sufficient masks and hand
sanitiser to our employees, ensured strict observance of personal and
environmental hygiene and daily body temperature checks for employees
and visitors entering into our premises. Besides, we have engaged
specialist contractors to conduct a thorough cleaning and a long-acting
antibacterial coating spraying at our premises. All these efforts aimed to
ensure the health and safety of our employees and facilitate the prevention
the outbreak in our premises.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN R D

OUTLOOK

The Group has been putting much effort to deepen our penetration in
the E&M engineering industry and diversify our exposure at various E&M
sectors. At the new financial year, the Group continues to benefit from
the renovation and replacement of E&M, communication and AFC assets
projects from our customers, we foresee a steady growth of revenue to
be generated from this sector. At the first two months for the year ended
31 March 2022, two major projects were awarded to the Group which
include : (i) refurbishment and replacement of air handling units (AHU)
and primary air units (PAU) in Tsuen Wan Line (TWL), Kwun Tong Line
(KTL), Island Line (ISL), Air Express Line (AEL), Tung Chung Line (TCL),
Disneyland Resort Line (DRL), Tseung Kwan O Line (TKL) and East Rail
Line (ERL) and (i) revamp of trackside advertising panels along West Rail
Line (WRL). These two projects amounted to approximately HK$50.0
million. In addition, in order to prepare Hong Kong with the required
charging infrastructure to support the wider use of electric private cars
(“e-PCs”), the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“‘HKSAR”) is forward-looking and has been encouraging, among
other initiatives, the installation of electric vehicle (“EV”) charging-enabling
infrastructure (“EVCELI”) in private car parks. A HK$2 billion pilot subsidy
scheme was launched to promote installation of EVCEI in car parks of
existing private residential buildings. The scheme, namely the “EV-charging
at Home Subsidy Scheme” (“EHSS”), is to help car parks of existing
private residential buildings with multiple ownership resolve technical and
financial difficulties that are encountered frequently when retrofitting EVCEI
and further facilitate car park owners to install EV chargers (or EV supply
equipment) of their choice in the future in a simple and easy manner.
The Group by utilising our experience and expertise is pursuing business
opportunities in this area.

Besides, a new subsidiary will be set up this year targeting to the
ePayment business. By making use of the knowledge and experience
we gained when carrying out the project at the Taoyuan MRT on the
integration of mobile payment application with QR Code and various
contactless payment method, the Group has lined up with various
business partners including bank and digital payment providers with a
planning to take up broader roles in the ePayment business arena such as
becoming a facilitator.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to
approximately HK$224.8 million, representing more or less the same level
as compared with approximately HK$224.2 million for the year ended 31
March 2020.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales comprised (i) material and
equipment; (i) direct labour; and (jii) sub-contracting cost. The cost of
sales increased by approximately 5.1% from approximately HK$152.9
million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$160.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The increase in cost of sales
was mainly due to a decrease of efficiency when carrying out our projects
during the COVID-19 pandemic. The gross profit of the Group decreased
by approximately 10.0% from approximately HK$71.3 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$64.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to (j)
the increase of cost of sales as discussed above; and (i) a decrease of
gross profit margin for project during the period.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2020/21
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Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by approximately 11.9%
from approximately HK$46.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$40.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. Such
decrease was mainly due to () a decrease of professional and legal fees
incurred as compared with the year ended 31 March 2020; (i) better cost
control measures implemented; and (jii) a decrease of staff cost in relation
to reduced staff gathering events due to the various measures of social
distancing and requirements to reduce gatherings.

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company

The Group recorded net profit attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$32.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
net profit of approximately HK$21.6 million). The increase in net profit is
mainly due to (i) financial support received from the Government of the
HKSAR in response to the novel coronavirus epidemic; (i) a decrease of
administrative expenses; and (iii) receipt of a long outstanding payment
from a customer.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

Historically, the Group has met the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through operating cash flows and capital contribution from its
Shareholders.

The Group requires cash primarily for working capital needs. As at 31
March 2021, the Group had approximately HK$113.9 million in (i) bank
balances and cash; and (i) time deposits with original maturity over three
months (2020: approximately HK$83.0 million), representing an increase
of approximately HK$30.9 million as compared to that as at 31 March
2020.

There are 2,500,000 shares (“Share(s)”) issued on 2 March 2021
pursuant to exercise of share options granted under the share option
scheme adopted on 20 September 2017.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change on the capital
structure of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the
date of this report (i.e. 17 June 2021) (the “Date of this Report”). The
share capital of the Company only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2021, the issued share capital of the Company was
HK$4,025,000 divided into 402,500,000 Shares of HK$0.01 each.

Capital Expenditure

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$1.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 which
comprised acquisition of furniture, fixtures and office equipment (2020:
approximately HK$4.8 million).

Final Dividend
The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.73 cents
per Share for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: HK2.0 cents).
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Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed 203 employees (2020:
199 employees). The Group’s remuneration policies are in line with
the prevailing market practice and are determined on the basis of
performance, qualification and experience of individual employee. On
top of basic salaries, bonus may be paid with reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance. Other staff benefits
include provision of retirement benefits, medical and life insurance
benefits. Share options and/or share awards may also be granted to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s performance as well as the
individual contribution.

Comparison of Business Objectives with Actual Business Progress
An analysis comparing the business objectives as set out in the
Company’s prospectus dated 29 September 2017 (the “Prospectus”)
with the Group’s actual business progress for the period from 16 October
2017 (the “Listing Date”) to 31 March 2021 is set out below:

Business strategy Actual business progress up to 31 March 2021

Expand and enhance our E&M engineering  The Group has purchased several fibre cable testing
technical capabilities related equipment in order to maintain our competitiveness
in the railway sector as the Group anticipates that E&M
engineering systems in the railways will rely increasingly on
optical fibre networks to transfer relevant system data in
the future.

The Group has purchased additional equipment for
material handling and field services for carrying out high
level works. It helps to maintain our competitiveness and
operational flexibility as well as work safety.

The Group has arranged specific trainings for employees
on BIM and is in the processing of procurement of
additional hardware and software in order to fuffil
upcoming contract requirement, promote productivity and
uplift quality of our work.

The Group has rented and continued the rental of
additional space and storage facilties to cater for space
required for operation and to accommodate the new
machineries and equipment purchased.

The Group has purchased four vehicles to increase

our traveling efficiency and allow our project teams to
transport additional spare parts and equipment for use in
our operations.

The Group has continued to enhance our insurance
coverage and employee remuneration packages, including
(i) upgrading of employees’ medical insurance plan;

(i) purchasing of the Group’s professional indemnity
insurance plan; (i) purchasing of the Group’s product
liability insurance plan; and (i) providing funds for the
employees’ performance bonus scheme and share award
scheme as one of the measures for retaining talents and
risk mitigation.
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Business strategy

Deepen our penetration of the E&M
engineering industry with special
focus on the Transportation Mission
(Critical System Solutions market by
strengthening our R&D capabilities and
increasing our brand awareness through
marketing efforts

Strengthen our financial capabilities to
undertake larger-scale E&M engineering
projects in the future.

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2021

The Group has purchased three-dimensional design
software, enabling us to create three dimensional drawings
and designs for our products.

The Group has purchased additional computer hardware
and software, enhancing the development of electronic
payment system on various platforms.

The Group has set up office at the Hong Kong Science
and Technology Parks and recruited three additional R&D
staff enhancing our R&D capabilties.

The Group has started to apply virtual reality (VR),
augmented reality (AR) and mixed reality (MR) technologies
in providing training to employees such that they could
familiarise themselves with different types of equipment in
amore effectively manner.

The Group has set up a marketing and demonstration area
as well as fitting out well-equipped conference room.

The Group has (i) arranged our employees to participate
in exhibitions, conference and symposiums; and (i) been
making an effort to increase business exposure in Taiwan
and other Asian countries.

The Group has produced corporate and promotional video
in order to increase our corporate image as well as brand
awareness.

The Group has started the preparation for obtaining the
certification of ISO 90008 in order to enhance our software
engineering standard.

The Group has arranged additional banking facilties in
order to improve the provision of performance guarantees
such that the Group could undertake more or larger scale
of E&M engineering projects.
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Use of Proceeds from the Listing

On 16 October 2017, the Shares were listed on GEM by way of Share
Offer (“Listing”). The Group intends to apply the proceeds from the
Listing in accordance with the proposed applications set out in the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

After deduction of all related Listing expenses and commissions, the
net proceeds from Listing amounted to approximately HK$36.0 million.
The Board resolved on 10 July 2019 to change the intended use of part
of the net proceeds from Listing. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 10 July 2019.

The net proceeds have been utilised in a manner consistent with the
disclosures set out in the Prospectus and the said announcement of the
Company dated 10 July 2019. An analysis of the planned usage of net
proceeds, the actual utilisation of the net proceeds from the Listing Date
up to 31 March 2021, the revised use of net proceeds and the expected
time line for utilising the remaining unused net proceeds are set out as
below:
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GEARING RATIO

The ratio was not applicable for the year ended 31 March 2021 as no
borrowing was incurred (2020: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

We conducted business with customers, suppliers and subcontractors
located in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
overseas. The Group’s exposure to the currency risk mainly arises from
the fluctuation of Renminbi (“RMB”), Euro (‘EUR”) or United States dollars
(“USD”). The Group currently does not have any hedging policy in place
for its foreign currency exposure. The management will consider hedging
significant currency exposure should the need arise.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 March 2021. The Group strives to
reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments
and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to
ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not hold any significant investments in equity interest in any
other companies as at 31 March 2021. Except for those included in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus,
the Group had no definite future plans for material investments and capital
assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES OR JOINT VENTURES

There were no other significant investments held, material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

PLEDGES OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group pledged certain amount of bank deposits
and investments in life insurance policies to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group. For details, please refer to notes 15 and 20
to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group did not have any capital commitment as at 31 March 2021
(2020: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2020: Nil).
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the following principal risks of the
Group were identified:

i) If the Group is unable to effectively monitor and implement work
safety measures at project sites, in the event of serious injuries and
casualties, the Group could suffer heavy penalties and its reputation
could be adversely affected.

(ii) the Group relies on a few numbers of key customers which may
result in over-reliance on these particular customers. The loss of
one customer or downsizing of these customers could potentially
have a significant impact to the Group’s revenue.

(i) the Group is facing challenges in identifying competent candidates
with the right qualification, experience and background as
successors of senior management positions. If the Group is unable
to develop, attract and retain employees with capabilities and
commitment needed, achievement of long run objectives may be
jeopardised.

(iv)  technologies are rapidly changing. If the Group fails to keep up with
technological advancement, it could jeopardise our competitiveness
in the industry.

(V) if the pandemic is not under control, and the travel restrictions
and compulsory quarantine requirements continue, collaboration
with overseas business partners as well as supply chain may be
adversely affected which may result in project delay or reduced
efficiency. Besides, if there is a confirmed or suspected case(s) of
COVID-19 at the workplace, the workplace may need to be closed
and may eventually lead to business interruption and/or project
delay.

Our Risk Control Mechanism

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify,
assess, mitigate and handle risks. At the first line of defence, operating
units are responsible for identifying and monitoring risks associated with
each business. The management, as the second line of defence, defines
rules and models, provides technical support, develops new systems and
oversees portfolio management. It ensures that risks are within acceptable
range and that the first line of defence is effective. As the final line of
defence, the risk management committee of the Company (the “Risk
Management Committee”), with the professional and independent
advice from the internal audit function ensures the first and second line of
defence are effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

The Group maintains a risk register to keep track of all identified major
risks of the Group. The risk register provides the Board, the Risk
Management Committee and management with a profile of its major risks
and records management’s action taken to mitigate the relevant risks. The
risk register will be reviewed and monitored at least annually. The review
process ensures that the Group proactively manages the risks faced by it.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (FE8E8H) (“Mr. KM Luk”), aged 74, is an Executive
Director and the chairman of our Board. Mr. KM Luk founded our Group
and joined us when he was appointed as a director of KML Engineering
in August 1977. Mr. KM Luk is responsible for overall strategic planning
and development of our Group, and oversees the financial management
and planning of our Group. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, and a member of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. KM Luk has more than 50 years of experience in the E&M engineering
industry, with a focus on the development of automatic fare collection
and railway transportation control systems. In August 1977, Mr. KM
Luk founded KML Engineering, the principal subsidiary of our Group
as a contractor for providing services in the fields of electrical power
engineering, signalling and communication engineering, and computer-
based toll collection systems, etc.

Mr. KM Luk was registered as a Chartered Engineer (CEng) by The
Institution of Electronic and Radio Engineers, the United Kingdom, a
Chartered Engineer by the Council of Engineering Institutions, the United
Kingdom. He is admitted a member and registered as a Chartered
Electrical Engineer by The Institution of Electrical Engineers (currently
known as the Institution of Engineering and Technology), the United
Kingdom, and a Chartered Engineer by the Council of Engineering
institutions, the United Kingdom. He is also admitted as a member of the
Hong Kong Institution of Electrical Engineers, a member of Institution of
Railway Signal Engineers, and a member of Hong Kong Association of
Energy Engineers. He was nominated as the Country Vice President of
Institution of Railway Signal Engineers for Hong Kong, China in March
2011.

Mr. KM Luk is the father of Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (“Mr. KL Luk”) and Mr.
Luk Yin Cheung (“Mr. YC Luk”), both our Executive Directors. Mr. KM
Luk is also the spouse of Ms. Leung Kwok Yee (“Madam Leung”),
our controlling Shareholder, and the father-in-law of Ms. Woo Siu Wai
(“Madam Woo”), our company secretary.

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip (BRZ), aged 59, is an Executive Director
and our chief executive officer. Mr. Chan is responsible for overseeing the
daily operations and overall general management of our Group. Mr. Chan is
also a member of the Risk Management Committee.

Mr. Chan has more than 30 years of experience in E&M engineering.
He joined KML Engineering in October 1987. Since then, he has served
our Group in various capacities including engineer, general manager of
advanced products department, the operation director and the managing
director of KML Engineering.

Mr. Chan has been a director of KML Engineering since June 1991. He
is a technical director and one of the authorised signatories appointed
by KML Engineering for its qualification as a Registered Minor Works
Contractor for Type A and Type C of Class Il & Il under the Buildings
Ordinance.

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering with first class
honours in mechanical engineering from the Newcastle University (formerly
known as “University of Newcastle upon Tyne”), the United Kingdom
and a degree of Master of Science in Engineering from The University
of Hong Kong, Hong Kong. He was admitted as associate member of
the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a member of The Institution of
Electrical Engineers (currently known as the Institution of Engineering and
Technology), the United Kingdom and registered as a Chartered Engineer
(CEng) by the Engineering Council (UK). He was elected as a member of
the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, the United Kingdom. He is also a
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (FEZ &), aged 44, is an Executive Director.
Mr. KL Luk is responsible for overseeing the business development
and marketing of our Group. Mr. KL Luk has been a director of KML
Technology Limited (“KML Technology”) and KML Engineering since
February 2012 and November 2015 respectively. Mr. KL Luk is one of the
authorised signatories appointed by KML Engineering for its qualification as
a Registered Minor Works for Type A of Class Il & Ill under the Buildings
Ordinance. Mr. KL Luk is also a member of the Risk Management
Committee.

Mr. KL Luk joined our Group in January 2003 and appointed as deputy
managing director in December 2015. He developed comprehensive
experiences in process management in various departments in KML
Engineering, and acted as the project manager for various projects
undertaken by our Group in the past years.

Mr. KL Luk obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in hotel
administration from University of Nevada, Las Vegas, the United States,
a degree of Master of Science in administrative studies from Boston
University, the United States, and a degree of Master of Science in
engineering business management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University, Hong Kong. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

Mr. KL Luk is a son of Mr. KM Luk, our founder, Executive Director and
chairman of our Board, and the elder brother of Mr. YC Luk, an Executive
Director. Mr. KL Luk is the elder son of Madam Leung, our controlling
Shareholder, and the brother-in-law of Madam Woo, our company
secretary.

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung (former name is Luk Tit Cheung) (£ Z %), aged
42, is an Executive Director. Mr. YC Luk is responsible for overseeing
the operation support of our Group, including sourcing and project
administration of our Group. Mr. YC Luk has been a director of KML
Technology and KML Engineering since February 2012 and November
2015 respectively. Mr. YC Luk is also a member of the Risk Management
Committee.

Mr. YC Luk joined our Group in June 2006 and appointed as associate
director in December 2015. In the past 14 years, Mr. YC Luk has gained
vast experience in providing training on occupation safety, purchasing,
inventory and logistics management in the E&M engineering industry.

Mr. YC Luk graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration from The University College of the Cariboo, Canada
and Diploma in Marketing by The University of Hong Kong School of
Professional and Continuing Education in association with the Chartered
Institute of Marketing, Hong Kong. He was elected an affiliate member
of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong and
a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. To promote the
occupational safety of our Group, Mr. YC Luk also awarded a Diploma in
Occupational Health and Safety by the Li Ka Shing Institute of Professional
and Continuing Education, The Open University of Hong Kong.

Mr. YC Luk is a son of Mr. KM Luk, our founder, Executive Director
and chairman of our Board, and the younger brother of Mr. KL Luk, an
Executive Director. Mr. YC Luk is the younger son of Madam Leung, our
controlling Shareholder, and the spouse of Madam Woo, our company
secretary.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau On Kwok (2|Z El), aged 54, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Mr. Lau is the chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Risk Management
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lau has extensive experience in the fields of financial management,
corporate governance and direct investment. He started his career as
accounting professional in an international accountancy firm. Mr. Lau
was an executive director at China Assets Investment Management
Limited and was also the company secretary and a member of investment
committee of China Assets (Holdings) Limited, a company previously listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 170) from April 2004 to December
2010. He was a director of Shandong Lukang Pharmaceutical Company
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600789), from May 2007 to April 2012. From May 2009 to
January 2011, Mr. Lau was an independent non-executive director of
Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0851). He was employed by Sheng Yuan Asset Management
Limited from January 2011 to August 2014, where his last position
was executive director. He also assumed the duties of the managing
director of Sheng Yuan Investment Advisors Limited from January 2011
to December 2013. Mr. Lau was the company secretary and financial
controller at Winshine Science Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 209), from November 2014 to November
2018. Mr. Lau has been a director of China Assets (Holdings) Limited and
a director of China Assets Investment Management Limited since October
2018.

Mr. Lau obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in accounting and financial
analysis from the Newcastle University (formerly known as “University of
Newcastle upon Tyne”) and a degree of Master of Science in financial
management from University of London. He also obtained a Diploma on
Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations affecting Foreign Business
jointly awarded by Southwest University of Political Science and Law and
the Hong Kong Management Association.

Mr. Lau is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the United Kingdom.

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen (X %), aged 51, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Mr. Law is
the chairman of the Risk Management Committee, and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Law has extensive experience in financial management and
professional accounting. He was the chief finance officer of Diamondlite
Limited, one of the leading jewellery manufacturer in the PRC. Having
started his career as a professional accountant in an international
accountancy firm, Mr. Law has undertaken key financial management
positions in companies engaged in a variety of industries. Mr. Law has
been an executive director and company secretary of Kai Yuan Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1215),
since May 2011 and February 2014 respectively and is also currently their
chief financial officer.

Mr. Law obtained a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

BYFHTES

BIREEE  545% R-E—EFNA-+BREZERSE
VIFMTEE - BIXERERZEEER  EREEZRER
SNFHEEENKE -

RIEERPEER CEEARNEBREREESEFLEELR
B o R — MBS ARIEASTEEAS - FRER
¥4E RN _ZTZNENAZE-_ZT—ZTE+ - Bl&4
ATFREAKREEEBERARNATEERNAFEHER
(R BR AR (BRI R AT LR AR] - BRAHRSE : 170)
NARMERREZEEKE - RZET+tFRAZE-F
——FA - wARLRENBERKERAG (ERHN L
BEERGHET - BRMHRS  600789)MES - R=F
THFRAE-T—F—F AL ARRERAERA
AR Fr LT AR] - BRARSE : 0851) B IEMITES -
MN-E——F—AZ-FT—NENA  BEBRBEEESIE
ERAFRER  HEREBNUABNTESE RNZT——F—
AZE=Z—=%+=8 ' BIRBRRERNEEGR AR
EERAKERE HR-T—NE+—AE-_T—N\&F
+—A BREARRRMEFERAR MR LETAR I
PR - 209 ARME RV BHRE - B=T—)\F+A
B BEEAPHERNPZER)ERAGNEERPHEAR
REERERARNES -

FEERAREBEREREET LUBIIXEELE
L RAE MM A BEUG I 155 1R IR 250 + 247 » M IAES i
FRBUEAREEBEREXEHEARENPEIPINEE
EREBUR

FEELBEEHNAGE B NERFHFARETNAE

BREE -

BARERE 515 RCE—LFNA-+THEZERS
MIFHITESE - BEALARAREEZEGIE  BREE

GRIREEEGNKE -

BEERMBEEREXREH T HRELELR - BAT
SRR AR (PE—RAEIRE BUER) B EE - N —FH
READAREESHBXEABRRMEBELER - &R
BIBRENRRAEEENBEERM - BXER -F
——FRAR-T-OF - FEDRIARRERBR AR
(REERZ P EMEVRR] - BRDHIE - 1215) ITEER QA
WE - RRE T AHMGAE

BRENBBWTAERE

BEHMAEEE -

9
oy
1B
b
L
L

BB - FRE

BRNEEEEARAT « —B-8/ =&

19



20

Directors and Senior Management
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Dr. Tse Chi Kong (& Rl), aged 56, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Dr. Tse is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

From September 1991 to April 2005, Dr. Tse worked as a lecturer,
assistant professor, associate professor and professor in the department
of electronic and information engineering (“EIE Department”) of the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. Dr. Tse was the head of EIE Department
from August 2005 to December 2012. From May 2005 to October
2019, he was the chair professor of electronic engineering in the EIE
Department. Dr. Tse has been appointed as a member of the research
projects assessment panel of Innovation and Technology Fund, a fund
administered by the Innovation and Technology Commission of the
Government of Hong Kong, for a term from January 2017 to December
2018. He was re-appointed as a member of the Quality Education Fund
Steering Committee, which advises the government of Hong Kong on the
policies and procedures governing the operation of the Quality Education
Fund, in January 2017 for a term of two years. Dr. Tse is currently a
member of the council of the Confucius Institute of Hong Kong, an institute
under the faculty of humanities of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University,
Hong Kong and a member of the board of governers of the Hong Kong
Sinfonietta. Dr. Tse is appointed on 21 October 2019 as a chair professor
of electrical engineering at the City University of Hong Kong.

Dr. Tse obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering and a degree of
Doctor of Philosophy from The University of Melbourne, Australia. He
has been elected to the grade of fellow of the Institute of Electrical and
Electronic Engineers, Inc., New York. He is a Chartered Professional
Engineer with Engineers Australia and a Fellow of Engineers Australia.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tung Tsz On (EF %), aged 51, is the chief engineer of our Group.
Mr. Tung is responsible for research and development, planning and
formulation and supervising the implementation of our projects with
provision of day-to-day technical and expert advice to our Group. Mr.
Tung is one of the authorised signatories of KML Engineering for its
qualification as a Registered Minor Works Contractor for Type A and Type
C of Class Il & lll under the Buildings Ordinance since September 2011.

Mr. Tung joined our Group in February 2003 as a system engineer and
was promoted to the position of chief engineer in April 2010. Mr. Tung
has more than 10 years of experience in design and management of
E&M engineering projects covering a variety of systems such as mobile
payment, automatic control system, car park system, security system
and point of sales system etc. He has expertise in handling maintenance
work for electronic systems, as well as leading the development and
implementation of automatic fare collection systems.

Mr. Tung obtained an Advanced Diploma in network engineering granted
by the Hong Kong Productivity Council in December 2000.
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Ms. Law Shuk Ming (Z#8f), aged 50, is our chief accountant, being
responsible for day-to-day accounting and financial reporting of our
Group. Ms. Law joined our Group in May 1995 and was promoted to chief
accountant in November 2017.

Ms. Law obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration from
Capstone University, the United States, and completed the Accounting
Technician Examination by Hong Kong Institute of Accredited Accounting
Technicians.

Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen (## %), aged 46, is a director of KML
Engineering. Ms. Wai joined our Group in December 1997 and has been
responsible for overall administration of our Group. Ms. Wai has been a
director of KML Engineering since October 2009.

Ms. Wai obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in public and social
administration and a Degree of Master of Arts in professional accounting
and information systems, both from the City University of Hong Kong.
She was also awarded the Graduate Diploma of Financial Services by
Deakin University, Australia, and admitted as a fellow Certified Insurance
Professional by the Australian and New Zealand Institute of Insurance and
Finance.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Woo Siu Wai (#8)7F), aged 41, is our company secretary,
responsible for company secretarial matters, human resources and
administrative duties. Ms. Woo joined our Group in April 2011 and was
subsequently promoted to administration manager in October 2016.

Before joining our Group, Madam Woo worked at Success Light
Investment Limited from February 2004, and last held the position of
company secretarial assistant in the finance department before her
departure in April 2011.

Madam Woo obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from the faculty of
social sciences of the University of Victoria, Canada, and a degree of
Master of Science in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance
from City University of Hong Kong. Madam Woo was admitted as an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an
associate of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

Madam Woo is the spouse of Mr. YC Luk, our Executive Director, the
daughter-in-law of Mr. KM Luk, our founder, Executive Director and
chairman of our Board, the daughter-in-law of Madam Leung, our
controlling Shareholder, and the sister-in-law of Mr. KL Luk, our Executive
Director.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung (FEZ#), aged 42, has been appointed as the
compliance officer of our Company. His biography is set out in the
subsection headed “Executive Directors” in this section.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of E&M engineering
solutions and services. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out in the note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 58 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.73 cents
per Share for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: HK2.0 cents). Such
final dividend is subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting (“AGM”), The dividend is expected to be paid on or about
26 August 2021 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company (the “Register of Members”) on 16 August
2021.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
2 August 2021 to Thursday, 5 August 2021, both days inclusive, in
order to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to
attend the AGM, during which period no transfers of Shares shall be
effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM to be
held on Thursday, 5 August 2021, all transfers of Shares, accompanied
by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged for
registration with the Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 30 July 2021.

The register of members of the Company will also be closed from
Thursday, 12 August 2021 to Monday, 16 August 2021, both days
inclusive, in order to determine the entitlement of the Shareholders who
are entitled to receive the final dividend, during which period no transfers
of Shares shall be effected. In order to qualify for the entitlement of final
dividend, all transfer of Shares, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged for registration with
the Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
11 August 2021.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as at 31 March 2021 and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out in
the paragraphs headed “Business Review” and “Outlook” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Report
respectively. Descriptions of possible risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are provided in paragraphs headed “Principal Risks
and Uncertainties” under the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this Report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in
the Financial Highlights on page 7 of this Report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, important relationships with its stakeholders and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations are contained and available in this
Report of Directors. The above discussions constitute part of this Report
of Directors.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises that all employees have the social obligation to
preserve and enhance the quality of the environment. We strive to protect
the environment in the course of our business activities by preventing
pollution, reducing adverse impact on climate change and enhancing
sustainable development. These policies are supported by our employees
and are implemented effectively.

At the same time, the Group recognises the importance of compliance
with regulatory requirements and applicable laws and regulations. During
the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant environmental laws and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations. The major laws and regulations relating to the Group’s
business and operations include the Electricity Ordinance, Security
and Guarding Services Ordinance, Building (Minor Works) Regulation,
Construction Industry Council Ordinance and the Subcontractor
Registration Scheme. During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to
the Date of this Report, the Group has complied in material respects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or
noncompliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the Date of this Report.
The Group has complied with all relevant requirements including financial,
technical, management and personal criteria applicable to each respective
laws and regulations.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Employees

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed 203 employees. We
maintained a good working relationship with our employees and we did
not experience any labour disputes during the year ended 31 March 2021.
Recruitment in the E&M engineering service industry is highly competitive,
especially with respect to the recruitment of qualified engineering staff.
We believe we are hiring high-quality employees in the market by offering
competitive wages and benefits and comprehensive training opportunities.
We have facilitated the recruitment through a variety of channels, such
as newspapers, internet websites, recruitment agencies, career talks and
internal referrals. We believe our continuous efforts will help us attract
suitable personnel.

Customers

Our customers mainly comprise transportation companies and other
engineering companies in Hong Kong and Taiwan and also various
departments of the Hong Kong Government. We maintain business
relationship with our largest customer since year 1978. We usually enter
into agreements with our customers on project basis and the majority of
such contracts have term over one year. Most of our project contracts are
fixed price contracts. The lump sum price is usually determined based on
factors including project requirements and estimated cost of materials,
labour and time required for completion of the projects.

Suppliers

The Group sources equipment, parts and components from our suppliers.
The principal materials and equipment used by our E&M engineering
business include steel and copper parts, switchboards, and various
mechanical equipment. Most of these materials and equipment are
sourced from local suppliers or imported mainly from Germany, Taiwan
and the PRC.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five

financial years is set out on page 128 of this Report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s sales to its five largest
customers accounted for approximately 90.7% (2020: approximately
85.1%) of the Group’s total revenue and the sales to its largest customer
accounted for approximately 67.1% (2020: approximately 64.1%) of the
Group’s total revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the year ended 31 March 2021, purchases from the Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 38.0% (2020: approximately
35.0%) of the Group’s total purchases and the purchases from the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 11.8% (2020: approximately 10.0%)
of the Group’s total purchases.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number of issued Shares of
the Company) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out on pages 127 and 60 of
this Report respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to the Shareholders amounted to approximately HK$25.6 million (2020:
approximately HK$25.7 million), comprising an accumulated loss
of approximately HK$14.9 million and share premium amounting to
approximately HK$40.5 million.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any bank loans and other borrowings as at 31
March 2021.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the Date of
this Report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Chak Lun, Philip (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lau On Kwok

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. Tse Chi Kong

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association of the
Company (“Articles of Association”), at each AGM one-third of the
Directors (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the
circular to be despatched to the Shareholders.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 17 to 21 of this Report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent during the year ended 31 March 2021 (the
“Reporting Period”) and remain so as at the Date of this Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years and will continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with terms of the agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has renewed the letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which may be
renewable subject to both parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service agreement / letter of appointment

which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the year ended 31 March 2021, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities, except that trustee of the Share Award Scheme, pursuant
to the terms of the rules and trust deed of the Share Award Scheme,
purchased on the Stock Exchange a total of 595,000 Shares at a total
consideration of approximately HK$143,000.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the Reporting Period, no contract of significance in respect
of provision of services or otherwise was entered into between the
Company or its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders or his/her/its
subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Reporting Period and up to the Date of this Report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance of the directors and senior management
and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and the five highest paid
individuals during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”))
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), which were recorded in the register required to be
kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:
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Number
of Shares / Approximate
underlying percentage of
Shares held/ Long/short  shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest interested position® the Company (%)®
¥ BE
38y RAEDBER
i B9 RntE HERDEE BE/ KR BHBEDE(%)©
Mr. KM Luk® Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 157,000,000 L 39.01
REEAR @ EmfAA ; BiBEs
Mr. KL Luk® Interest in controlled corporation 138,000,000 L 34.29
BEFREE® R AR RS
Mr. YC Luk@® Interest in controlled corporation; 138,600,000 L 34.43
interest of spouse
fEERFEDO XA E R iR
Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip Beneficial owner 4,000,000 L 0.99

(“Mr. CL Chan”)®
PR S A
(TBREB L] @

BEmEAA

Notes:

(1) Mr. KM Luk directly holds 100,000,000 Shares. Since Mr. KM Luk is the spouse of
Madam Leung, Mr. KM Luk is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which
Madam Leung is interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO, which is
57,000,000 Shares.

2) Each of Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk owns one common share in KML Holdings
Limited ("KML Holdings’), representing 50% of the issued share capital of KML
Holdings carrying voting rights. Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk are deemed to be
interested in all Shares in which KML Holdings is interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO, which is 138,000,000 Shares.

3) Since Mr. YC Luk is the spouse of Madam Woo, Mr. YC Luk is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Madam Woo s interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO, which is 600,000 Shares.

(4) Mr. CL Chan directly holds 2,000,000 Shares and was interested as a grantee of
options to subscribe for up to 2,000,000 Shares under the Share Option Scheme
(announced on 2 January 2020).

(%) The Letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

(6) As at 31 March 2021, the total number of issued Shares were 402,500,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) that was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
taken under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO:

FERRRAROREBRONERR KR

MRZB—F=ZA=+—H BEEMRAN U TALEE
FEZEHARAEBITRAB)RARA BN SRR
BARRBRRE GER KB RD) F336[F AT ENE LM
PREC iR iR (R 5 AR E 160D SEXVERSE2 2 353 AR 1§ 3R
FIAR A R R PR BRI s SOk R

Number of
Shares/ Approximate
underlying percentage of
Shares held/ Long/short  shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest interested position® the Company (%)®©
e ol
EEBG, RAED AR
"L B RmitE HERGHE "B KA BB DL (%)©
KML Holdings " Beneficial owner 138,000,000 L 34.29
KML Holdings ™ EnEAA
Madam Leung @ Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 157,000,000 L 39.01
R +@ EnEAA BB ER
Ms. Chan Patricia © Interest of spouse 138,000,000 L 34.29
FRIMG L2+ © iRkt
Madam Woo ¥ Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 138,600,000 L 34.43
HAZ L@ BEREAA  IEER
Notes: Hiat -

(1) Each of Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk owns one common share in KML Holdings,
representing 50% of the issued share capital of KML Holdings carrying voting
rights. Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk also own approximately 50% and approximately
50%, respectively, of the issued preferred shares in KML Holdings which do not
carry voting rights but only rights to dividends.

2) Madam Leung is the spouse of Mr. KM Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Madam Leung
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. KM Luk is interested or
deemed to be interested under the SFO, and vice versa.

3) Ms. Chan Patricia is the spouse of Mr. KL Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Chan
Patricia is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. KL Luk is
interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO.

“4) Madam Woo is the spouse of Mr. YC Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Madam Woo is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. YC Luk is interested or
deemed to be interested under the SFO, which is 138,000,000 Shares. Madam
Woo directly holds 300,000 Shares and was interested as a grantee of options to
subscribe for up to 300,000 Shares under the Share Option Scheme (announced
on 2 January 2020).

%) The Letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

(6) As at 31 March 2021, the total number of issued Shares were 402,500,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors were
not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein.

(1) BEFRIEEREEE LS BHEFKML Holdings—K EEAR -
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Report, at no time during the
Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the directors
and employees of the Group have made or may make to the Group, the
Company approved and adopted the share option scheme pursuant to
the written resolutions of the Shareholders passed on 20 September 2017
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarised below:

(i) the Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it
may think fit, grant an option to subscribe any director or employee
of the Group, from time to time on the basis of his/her contribution
or potential contribution to the development and growth of the
Group;

(ii) the maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 40,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the date of adoption and approximately 9.9%
of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Date of this Report;

@iy the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting
with such grantee and his/her close associates abstaining from
voting;

(iv)  an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof;

(V) an offer for the grant of options must be accepted within three
business days from the date of offer. The amount payable by the
eligible persons of an option to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of an option is HK$10;

(v the subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to an eligible person and
shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (jii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option; and
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(vij)  the Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years commencing on the Listing Date and shall expire at the close
of business on the business day immediately preceding the 10th
anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier by the Shareholders in
a general meeting.

On 2 January 2020, the Company granted 9,800,000 share options
(“Options”) to certain eligible participants (the “Grantee(s)”), subject to
acceptance by the Grantees, to subscribe for Shares with nominal value
of HK$0.01 each of the Company under the Share Option Scheme.
Among the Options granted, 2,000,000 Options were granted to a
Director, 700,000 Options were granted to a director of a subsidiary of
the Company and 300,000 Options were granted to an associate to a
Director.

The estimated fair value of the above 9,800,000 Options granted was
approximately HK$1,057,000, which was calculated by using the binomial
option pricing model based on following inputs. The value of the Options is
subject to certain fundamental limitations, including the subjective nature
of and uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions of the expected
future performance input to the model, and certain inherent limitations of
the model itself. The expected volatility was determined with reference to
the historical daily volatilities of the Share price of the Company. The risk-
free rate was determined with reference to the prevailing rates on debt
securities as reference from Thomson Reuters.

(vi)  EBARRERTEISR LT B EIRA10FAER - BRIEE
RERAE LERREFRIL - BRIRERBRET
MBI —AE X AN EXRREERRER o

RZZBZZTF—AZH  ARAREEREFZRET
AERSEE ([FEFA])EH9,800,0000% &A% # (5K
) URBARRARBSREMEO.0O1EITZRMD -
WHEERRAER  HOEE - ERENBEREE S
2,000,000 fE % #E 1% T —REE - 700,00008 B AER T
RABHEARH— &= E M300,000 1 BRER T — R
EENBBA -

FHBE R H 9,800,000 BRENEFAARBEL S
1,057,000/ 7T * JORIEA T 8UERA BT EER
AE BREEEZERENZHNRETRE  E48E
BIEARRERBMIENZIERES R TEHE R TH
BARZE - URFTERXNAERS - BHEEHIZ2EARRD
AIRENEZ BRKIEET - ERABRFRHIZESGHRIEE
HATRMEISEH 2 BITRIRET -

Date of grant 2 January 2020
BRHBH —E-Zf—-HZ=H
Share price at grant date HK$0.250
R B B AR (B 1 0.2507 7T
Exercise price HK$0.259
7B 0.2597 7T
Expected volatility 54.96%
L] 54.96%
Expected life 5 years from the date of grant
TE HA4F AR B BB RS
Risk-free rate 2.056%
LR 2.056%
Expected dividend yield 0%
TREARR B R 0%
Exercise multiple 2.X
TIEEE 215

The Group recognised an expense of approximately HK$695,000 in
relation to Options granted by the Company for the year ended 31 March
2021.

REBEBGANTNREBEE-_BE-—F=A=+—HIFEEF
B AR RR i R S 49/5695,000/8 7T ©
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Details regarding the number of Options, date of grant, exercise period BREBEERETESR D ERECERESE - KHA
and exercise price of the Options granted under the Share Option Scheme B~ AT HARITEE 2 FERSIAT
are set out below:

Closing price
immediately
Date of Number of Exercise price before date
Name of participants Options granted ~ Options granted Vesting period Exercise period of Options of grant
ERit SEELAS
SRENR RHBRERS BhREYE 5EE T8 BRETRE 2w E
HKS per Share HKS per Share
/& /]
Mr. CL Chan 2 January 2020 2,000,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.25
(Director and Chief executive officer) 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
RERLE “2-ZE-ACR I T =
(EERime) —Z--%5A=1R —Z-R%-A-A
Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen 2 January 2020 700,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.25
(Director of KML Engineering) 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
BRELT “2-%F-ACA Z3-3F-AZAE ZZZ-§tA-HE
(BHRRTRNES) ZE3--§7A=1H “Z-R%-A-A
Madam Woo 2 January 2020 300,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.25
(Company Secretary) 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
Bt —E-%5-A-A “Z-%%-A-RE  -E--5tA-RE
(AR —Z--%xA=1H “Z-hf-A-A
Employees 2 January 2020 3,500,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2020 0.259 0.25
t0 30 June 2020 to 1 January 2025
= “2-TE-ACA i
ZBCTERAZTH “B25-A-H
3,300,000 2 January 2020 2 January 2021 0.259 0.25
to 1 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
Z3-3F-AZAE ZZZ-§-BzAH%E
“5--%-f-H “E-RE-A-H
Total 9,800,000
3t
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During the year ended 31 Mach 2021, no options were granted, cancelled
or lapsed whereas 2,500,000 options were exercised. Details of the
movements of Options granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the
year ended 31 March 2021 and still outstanding as at 31 March 2021 are
as follows:

REE-Z-—F=-A=+—-HIEFERNWRARL
SR AE - BITEAEAEES 2,500,000/ « R —F
——F=ZA=+—"HERH BiTfE  BEEHIERZR
HARTTEE 2 B S BENT -

Outstanding as at Number of Number of Number of Number of  Outstanding as at
Name of participants 1 April 2020 Options granted  Options exercised ~ Options cancelled Options lapsed 31 March 2021
R=B=%fF R=B=-%
mA-H ERE (X5 BE 2X% =ZR=t-H
BHRENE W RATHE BREHE BREHE BREHE BREHE i RATE
Mr. CL Chan 2,000,000 = = = = 2,000,000
(Director and Chief executive officer)
BRERTE
(E=RITHER)
Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen 700,000 - - - - 700,000
(Director of KML Engineering)
BhERL
(RARETRNES)
Madam Woo 300,000 - - - - 300,000
(Company Secretary)
il
(RAME)
Employees 6,800,000 - 2,500,000 - - 4,300,000
EE
Total 9,800,000 = 2,500,000 = = 7,300,000
st

As at the Date of this Report, taking into account 19,000,000 share
options had been granted, the maximum number of Shares in respect of
which options may be granted is 21,000,000, representing approximately
5.2% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Date of this Report.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) on 5 November 2018 (the “Adoption Date”). Subject to any
early termination as may be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 15 years commencing on
the Adoption Date. Please refer to the announcement dated 5 November
2018 for details.

On 29 June 2020 and 6 July 2020, 800,000 and 1,750,000 awarded
Shares were granted to employees of KML Engineering respectively. The
2,550,000 awarded Shares granted represent approximately 0.6% of the
total number of Shares in issue as at the Date of this Report. As at 31
March 2021, 800,000 awarded Shares were vested to employee.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme as set out
in this Report, no equity-linked agreement that would or might result in the
Company issuing Shares, or that requiring the Company to enter into an
agreement that would or might result in the Company issuing Shares, was
entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year.

HEARREBH - 5FRE’RHE19,000,0000% A - A%
HERENRSRMDE R 521,000,000 @ EEEARE
HEIE 1T D 42 & 495.2% °

R 43 28 b=t &I

ARARRZE-N\F+—ARER (KM, AR
AN I ([ IR SR =t &1)) - Ain 32 IS B 3 A
HEEN  ARHATHES  EFGRRTERMKL -F
B B2HAMAZS—\F+—ARANRE -

R-ZE-_BEFEA-FT+IABE_ZE-_ZF+AKH "
800,0000% % 1,750,0008% £2E AR 1H 5 R F = ARHE T2
&S - &% H2,550,0000% SEIR (515 AR B HAT 3517
RN BE#H0.6% - R=—FE=-—%#=A=-+—H r 800,000
BB ERBTIES -

PR FE# R

B 2N 6 R Py a8 B AR M R ) S IR (D BB R T BN - AR RIRE
Rk E RN LT kT A B S 8k ] fe EHUA R A 31T A%

MR ERNR AR LA G KA REE B R AT B0
AR R -
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2021, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities, except that the trustee of the Share Award Scheme,
pursuant to the terms of the rules and trust deed of the Share Award
Scheme, purchased on the Stock Exchange a total of 595,000 Shares at
a total consideration of approximately HK$143,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 20 September 2017
(the “Deed of Non-competition”) entered into by the Group and Mr.
KM Luk, Madam Leung, Mr. KL Luk, Mr. YC Luk and KML Holdings
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) and as covenators
(collectively, the “Covenators”), each of the Covenators has irrevocably
and unconditionally undertaken to and covenanted with the Company
(for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries) that, subject to the exceptions
as described in the Prospectus, during the period that the Deed of Non-
Competition remains effective, he/she/it shall not, and shall procure that
his/her/its associates (other than any members of the Group) will not,
during the term of the Deed of Non-Competition, directly or indirectly,
either for his/her/its own account or in conjunction with or on behalf
of or for any other person, firm or company, whether for profit, reward
or otherwise, (i) carry on, participate in, be interested or engaged in,
or acquire or hold any right or interest (in each case whether as a
shareholder, partner, agent, consultant, employee or otherwise) directly
or indirectly in any business which is or likely to be in competition with
the business currently from time to time engaged by the Group (the
“Restricted Business”) in Hong Kong, Taiwan and any other country or
jurisdiction which any member of the Group provides such services and/
or in which any member of the Group carries on its business currently and
from time to time (the “Territory”); (ii) solicit, interfere with or endeavour to
entice away from any member of the Group any person, firm, company or
organisation who to his/her/its knowledge is now or has been a customer,
supplier, subcontractor or employee of any member of the Group in the
past twelve months before such proposed engagement or employment;
or (iii) without prior written consent of the Company, make use of any
information pertaining to the business, which have or may have come to
his/her/its knowledge in his/her/its capacity as a Controlling Shareholder
and/or Director for any purpose of his/her/its capacity as a Controlling
Shareholder and/or Director for any purpose of his/her/its engaging,
investing or participating in any Restricted Business in the Territory. For
details of the above, please refer to the Prospectus.

The Company has received confirmations from the Controlling
Shareholders confirming their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition respectively during the Reporting Period for disclosure in this
Report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Deed of Non-
competition during the Reporting Period and based on the information and
confirmation provided by or obtained from the Controlling Shareholders
and they were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have duly
complied with the Deed of Non-competition during the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this Report, during the Reporting Period, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not entered into any
continuing connected transactions.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Tenancy Agreement

KML Engineering, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant
entered into a tenancy agreement on 30 March 2020 (the “Tenancy
Agreement”) with K M L Limited as landlord in respect of Workshop
12 on G/F of Block B, Workshop 5 on 1/F with Flat Roof of Block B,
Workshops 7, 9, 10 and 11 on 1/F of Block B, Workshop 7 on 3/F with
Flat Roof of Block B and Car Parking Spaces numbered V20, V25, L33,
L37 and L39, Shatin Industrial Centre, Nos. 5-7 Yuen Shun Circuit, Shatin,
New Territories, Hong Kong (the “Premises”) for a term of 18 months
from 1 April 2020 to 30 September 2021 (both days inclusive). As the
applicable percentage ratios in respect the Tenancy Agreement exceed 5%
but are less than 25% and the value of the right-of-use of the Premises
is less than HK$10,000,000, the transaction contemplated under the
Tenancy Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
and is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules but exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the GEM Listing Rules.

K M L Limited is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and owned as
to 78.2% by Golden Sail International Limited (“Golden Sail”), which is
wholly-owned by a trustee for a family trust where the beneficiaries include
Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung. Therefore, K M L Limited is an associate
of each of Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung, and hence is a connected
person of the Company.

The Group has been leasing the Premises from K M L Limited as its
head office and workshops in Hong Kong for more than 20 years. The
Company considers that it would be beneficial to lease the Premises as
it will enable the Group to secure its stable operation at the Premises
without incurring additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating
and relocating to alternative premises and ensure that there will be no
disruption to the operations, business and growth of the Group.

Save as disclosed in this Report, during the Reporting Period, the
Company had no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which fell to be disclosed in accordance with the provisions
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions.

The related party transactions as disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted as connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
and in compliance with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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LITIGATIONS

As at the Date of this Report, neither the Company nor any other
member of the Group was engaged in any litigation or claims of material
importance known to the Directors to be pending or threatened against
any member of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Directors and senior officers of
the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director or officer shall be liable for any loss, damages or
misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the
execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance coverage
for the Directors and officers of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2021.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed in this Report, up to the Date of this Report, there were
no subsequent events after this Reporting Period.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) had,
together with the management, reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 38 to 52 of this Report.

The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. YC Luk, whose biographical
details are set out on page 18. The company secretary is Madam Woo
who satisfies the qualification requirement under Rules 5.14 and 11.07 of
the GEM Listing Rules as the company secretary of the Company. Madam
Woo's biographical details are set out on page 21 of this Report.
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Directors

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as at the Date of this Report as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young were appointed as the Auditors for the year ended
31 March 2021. The accompanying financial statements prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards have been
audited by Emst & Young.

On behalf of the Board

KML Technology Group Limited
Luk Kam Ming

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 17 June 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. During
the Reporting Period, the Company has applied the principles as set out
in the CG Code contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules which
are applicable to the Company and has complied with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-
day management and operation of the Group. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established four Board
committees including the Audit Committee, the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”).
The Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set
out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors had carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect of
legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be reviewed
on an annual basis.

Board Composition
The Board comprises four executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. LUK Kam Ming

Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung

Mr. LUK Yin Cheung

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAU On Kwok

Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. TSE Chi Kong

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this Report.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board has met at all times the
requirements under Rules 5.05(1) and 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will be
immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s performance.
Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board diversity policy to ensure
that the Company will, when determining the composition of the Board,
consider Board diversity in terms of, among other things, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board appointments will be based on merits, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board.

The Company has received the confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors about his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company considers all of them to be
independent.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this Report, none of the
Directors have any personal relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationship) with any other Directors
and the chief executive of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Risk Management Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations
and other significant commitments as well as the identity of the public
companies or organisations and the time involved to the Company, the
Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments and any subsequent
change to the Company in a timely manner.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and
information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Group’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities
under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides regular updates on latest development and changes in the GEM
Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from
time to time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Group’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge his duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated
and provided the Directors with written training materials relating to the
roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed issuer on GEM of the
Stock Exchange.

The professional trainings of the Directors during the year ended 31 March
2021 are as follows:
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PR ENERERHEVENABIEIRER - LA
R AR BN EE MR AR REER &0 - R
AIRRBITHEEHEEE T - ADRITNVERREHEGEM £
MRAREMERERIEEREZ TRENERIED
MEHER - ESNERRREFEAEERR - MRk
RIZMRMER  NEESS2RBLREEFRITREMNE

=
5 e°

ARRASMEFLRSETLDRTNG - LR REH
BEHMBRIE - ARAOANREREAEFEHR
ROUEBBZAGEM LT RTAEEAE - B RBEN
BESIEHR -

EENEE T - F=-A=+t-ALFERENFEE
Bl

Directors Type of trainings
E £ R
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. LUK Kam Ming REfERR A B
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip BROZB A A B
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung PEFEEAE A B
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung EEEEE A B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAKHITES

Mr. LAU On Kwok BL BT E A B
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen FKESRE A B
Dr. TSE Chi Kong 25 T 1 £ A B
Notes: Hist -

A: Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums and/or briefings A HEHGER EEHRHimBR RS

B: Reading materials relevant to corporate governance, director’s duties and B: HERFER EFBEREF - _FHHLRAMIBEIEAS

responsibilities, listing rules and other relevant ordinances
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company
are currently two separate positions held by Mr. KM Luk and Mr. CL
Chan, respectively, with clear distinction in responsibilities. Mr. KM Luk
is responsible for devising strategies for the continuous development of
the Group, overseeing the Group’s business operations and financial
performance, as well as leading the Board in performing its functions while
Mr. CL Chan is responsible for managing the overall business operations
and executing business strategies of the Group.
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TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years and will continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with terms of the agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has renewed the letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which may be
renewable subject to both parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service agreement / letter of appointment
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-election
of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIRED STANDARD OF
DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions in the securities of the
Company.

The Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors about their
compliance with the required standard of dealings from the Listing Date
and up to 31 March 2021, without noticing any violation of the required
standard.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, risk management and internal control systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors are provided with sufficient
resources to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors which includes:

i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(ii) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(i)  to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct and
compliance manuals applicable to employees and the Directors;

(iv)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board
on such matters;

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

(v to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistleblowing policy.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at
least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of
not less than 14 days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
despatched to the Directors or Board Committees members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or Board Committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make
their views known to the chairman of the Board or the relevant Board
Committees prior to the meeting. Minutes of the meetings are kept by the
company secretary with copies circulated to all Directors to the relevant
Board Committees members for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committees meetings are
recorded in sufficient details about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors or the Board Committees members.
Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are
sent to the Directors or the Board Committees members for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committees are open for
inspection by Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, five board meetings and one general meeting
were held and the attendance of each Director at these meetings is set
out in the table below:

TAREFEGZR—RABRRAE - %

HEE /RﬁECT%%-

5
)ht
EH}E

Board meeting(s) General meeting(s)

Directors Attended/Held Attended/Held
BHE 8T SHE BE8T
B=x =h-f BRAE
Executive Directors: HITES
Mr. LUK Kam Ming FEdERA ST A 5/5 1/1
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip PRIZMEE ST 5/5 11
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung BEZR At 5/5 1/1
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung BEESEE 5/5 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIUkHITES:
Mr. LAU On Kwok B E 5/5 01
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen KESLE 5/5 1/1
Dr. TSE Chi Kong SHERIEL 5/5 11
BOARD COMMITTEES BEEZES
Audit Committee EREEE

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. LAU On
Kwok (chairman), Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen and Dr. TSE Chi Kong, all of
them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

M

(i)

to review the relationship with the Auditor by reference to the work
performed by the Auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the Auditor;

to review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the Auditor before submission to the Board;
and

to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems and associated procedures, including the adequacy of the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee had six meetings and two of the meetings with the
Company’s external auditor during the Reporting Period.
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During the Reporting Period and up to the Date of this Report, the Audit
Committee had three meetings with the Auditor to discuss the annual
audit for the year ended 31 March 2021 with the following matters:

(i) reviewed the audit plan for the year ended 31 March 2021;

(ii) reviewed the final results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021 as well as the audit report prepared by the Auditor relating to
accounting issues and major findings in course of audit; and

(iii) reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures,
(including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function), and the re-appointment
of the Auditor.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members, namely
Mr. LUK Kam Ming (chairman), Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen and Dr. TSE
Chi Kong, the majority of the committee is comprised by independent
non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

i) to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

(i)  to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

(iv)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and the succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Policy on Directors Nomination

The Company has adopted a nomination policy stating the process and
criteria to select and recommend candidates for directorship during
the Reporting Period. In identifying suitable candidate qualified to
become Board members, the Nomination Committee shall consider the
attributes complementary to the Board, business experience and Board
Expertise and skills, availability, motivation, integrity and independence of
candidates.

The Nomination Committee had one meeting during the Reporting Period
to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
consider the re-appointments of the retiring Directors.

Board Diversity Policy
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy, a summary of which is
set out below:

i) with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development;

(ii) in designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(i) all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

(ivy  selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board;

(V) the Nomination Committee will report annually, in the Corporate
Governance Report, on the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives, and monitor the implementation of this Policy; and

(v the Nomination Committee will review this Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of this Policy. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend
any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members, namely
Dr. TSE Chi Kong (chairman), Mr. LAU On Kwok and Mr. LUK Kam Ming,
the majority of the committee is comprised by independent non-executive
Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

M

(i)

)

V)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives determined by
the Board, and assess performance of executive Directors and the
terms of their service agreements;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
These include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors; and

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee had two meetings during the Reporting
Period to discuss, review and make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management of the Company.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements. Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the
CG Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management
(including Company Secretary and excluding the Directors) whose
particulars are contained in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this Report for the year ended 31 March 2021 by band is
set out below:

Remuneration band (in HK$)

EERSHEEBNTM

RN EHRE - EFRALRSHMALTOFHFBERTIN

iR A BB RS - RIBEFEIATRISTRIENFEB.A.5

e RHMENSERHE T —F=A=1t—RHILFE

E’leiiae&féi&mﬁ&a@EJ*EﬁW%%&%E&EIﬂZ%(@%
NEME  EERINREFIAER B D RFHEFIAT

Number of individuals

FENAR R CET) AB

Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 TiBiE 1,000,000/ 7T 3

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 E 1,500,000/ 7T 1

Risk Management Committee EREEZES

The Risk Management Committee comprises five members, namely Mr. EREREE SR BKEMEK - BIBEKESE (EE)

LAW Wing Chi Stephen (chairman), Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip, Mr. LAU BOZBETAE  BIRBLE EERAEREETLE -

On Kwok, Mr. LUK Kwai Lung and Mr. LUK Yin Cheung.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee include the EREEZEENTEREREATAHA

following:

0] to review the Group’s risk management system, including risk, (i) 8 ZKEIE’JH EERG  BIERR - BARRK
capital and liquidity management framework, the Group’s risk @ﬁ ERER  ANEENRRAZEN - ARIK
tolerance capability, its risk policies and standards, and relevant RIS EMBRBERERRS - REMALE - FTRM

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(V)

risk limits, including the parameters used and the methodology
adopted, and the processes used for identifying and assessing
risks;

to approve risk policies and standards, referring any new material
policies/standards or material changes to existing policies/
standards/limits to the Board for approval;

to discuss the risk management system with the management
and ensure that the management has performed its duties to
establish an effective system. The contents to be discussed
include the Company’s resources for risk management, adequacy
of qualifications and experiences of the employees, as well as
adequacy of training courses and relevant budgets available to the
employees;

to review material risk exposures of the Group, including market,
credit, insurance, operational, liquidity, and economic and regulatory
capital risks against the Group’s risk measurement methodologies
and management actions to monitor and control such exposures;

to review annually the changes, since the last annual review, in
the nature and extent of significant risks, and the issuer’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment;
and

to review annually the effectiveness of the issuer’s processes for
financial reporting and compliance of the Listing Rules.
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The written terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Risk Management Committee had one meeting during the Reporting
Period to discuss and review risk management policy, internal control
manual, internal audit plan, internal audit report, risk management and
internal control systems.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS BOARD
COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Rl B IR T 8 & A2 T B 88 B A B S P e AN A B 49 )
HERH -

NHEHE - BREEZBGRIT—REGH - JwmLEHN
R ERRER - NBEEETF - AEEXE - REER
HE - BREERARPEESIE o

ESHERESZESERNER

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/BITERRE
Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk
Committee Committee Committee Management
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Committee Meeting
) EVZEEER REZEEEE FHEEEEE EREEZE8EE
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. LUK Kam Ming BEE R & - 11 2/2 -
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip BRZEBLE - - - 11
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung BEEEAE - - - 1/1
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung BEETYEE - - - 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. LAU On Kwok %R % E 6/6 - 2/2 1/1
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen BXERE 6/6 11 - 1/1
Dr. TSE Chi Kong AEMEL 6/6 il 2/2 =

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 which give a true and fair
view of the affairs of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Group’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concemn.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on

the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 53 to 57 of this Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its responsibility to ensure that the
Company establishes and maintains sound risk management and internal
control systems within the Group and to review the effectiveness of
the systems. Such systems are designed to manage and mitigate risks
inherent in the Group’s business faced by the Group to an acceptable
level, but not eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement,
loss or fraud.

The Board has entrusted the Risk Management Committee with the
responsibility to oversee the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group on an on-going basis and to review the effectiveness of
the systems annually. The annual review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls.

Under the Company’s risk management and internal control structure,
the management is responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of risk management and internal control systems to
ensure, amongst others, (i) appropriate policies and control procedures
have been designed and established to safeguard the Group’s assets
against improper use or disposal; (i) relevant laws, rules and regulations
are adhered to and complied with; and (iii) that reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements.

No significant control failings or weaknesses were identified during the
Reporting Period.

The main features of risk management an intemal control structure of the
Company is as follows:

i) heads of each operation unit or department manage major risks
affecting the Group’s businesses and operations through the
processes of risk identification, risk assessment and implementation
of risk mitigation measures in accordance with the internal
guidelines approved by the Board and the Risk Management
Committee;

(ii) the management ensures appropriate actions are taken on major
risks affecting the Group’s businesses and operations; and

(iii) internal auditors provide independent assurance to the Board, the
Risk Management Committee and the management concerning the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, major works performed by the
management in relation to risk management and internal control include
the following:

(i) reviewed the progress of the implementation of the mitigation plan
for the major risks identified for the year ended 31 March 2020;

(ii) identified new risks at corporate level for year ended 31 March
2021; and incorporated them into risk register for risk assessment;
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(i)  conducted an annual review on effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls; and

(iv) reported the results of the risk assessment and internal audit to the
Risk Management Committee and the Board.

Based on the findings of the internal audit and the comments of the Risk
Management Committee, the Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has established a policy on the handling and dissemination
of inside information (“Inside Information”). The inside information policy
concerns the handling and the dissemination of the Inside Information as
follows:

(i) subject to the availability of a safe harbor exception, Inside
Information must be disclosed to public as soon as reasonably
practicable;

(ii) executive Directors and senior management should identify events
and/or developments which may constitute Inside Information and
report to the Board to consider whether they may constitute Inside
Information requiring disclosure;

(iii) until an announcement in relation to the Inside Information is made,
the Company shall ensure the Inside Information is kept strictly
confidential; and

(iv) If the Company believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been
breached, an announcement shall be made as soon as reasonably
practicable.

Inside Information is announced on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy facilitating the Shareholders
and investors to make informed investment decisions relating to the
Company during the Reporting Period. In considering whether to
propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board
shall consider the following factors before declaring or recommending
dividends:

i) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(ii) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

@iy  the Groups’ working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(iv)  the Group’s liquidity position;

(V) business conditions and strategies;
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(vi)  future operations and earnings;

(vi)  reasonable return in investment to the Shareholders and investors;
and

(vii)  other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Declaration and payment of dividend by the Company shall also subject to
any restrictions under the Cayman Islands laws, any applicable laws, rules
and regulations, any restrictions that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders, if any and the Articles of Associations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
Auditor to the Group during the Reporting Period was as follows:

Type of Services

(Vi) RREERBF
(vi) REREBEEERENEEER &

(vii) EFEARERSBREENEMESE -
AAREREMRENFETRESFEER  EER
ERE - RARRPIERRS - AEEE T AN E
RS () RABERAMA -

K BUAD 7 EA

RIREHRE - ZBERAAEBIRENEZIIEERRED
HEmT

Amount (HK$'000)

RIEER SEFEL
Audit services FEIZRT 1,620
Non-audit services (note) SEEAZ RS (M22F) 87

Note:  For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has engaged the Auditor and their
affiliate companies to provide non-audit services which include (i) tax service; (i)
agreed-upon procedure engagements, and (iij) other assurance engagement for
retirement scheme.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Madam Woo, the company secretary of the Company, is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that
the Board policies and procedures, as well as the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed.

During the Reporting Period, Madam Woo have undertaken not less than
15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in compliance with
Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the
Group’s business, performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the
informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide opportunity for the
Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The chairman of
the Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees will attend the
annual general meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Auditor
will also attend the annual general meetings to answer questions about
the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.
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To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
Shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and the
Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company at www.kml.com.
hk, where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are available for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will
be proposed for each issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting and putting forward
proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting of the Company according to the Articles of Association. Any
one or more members holding as at date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries to the Company
could send it by following means for the attention of the Company
Secretary:

By post: B12, G/F., Shatin Industrial Centre, Siu Lek Yuen Road,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.
By email: iro@kml.com.hk

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Memorandum and Articles of Association
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERANCE REPORT

During the Reporting Period, the Group prepared and began to formulate
the environmental, social and governance report of the Company in
accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide issued by the Stock Exchange. Such report is proposed to be
published in or before August 2021.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZH RS

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY::

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KML Technology
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 58 to 127, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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BN ZBEHRE

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HARETER

HEHNREERRATRE ()
(REIEFSEMA LA BRI F])

HMREASRAE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REFHFRMEEARETBTENSR

Contract revenue and contract costs from engineering solutions and services

KETRERL RRRBHER Wiz REA KT

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s revenue
and costs recognised for electrical and mechanical (‘E&M”)
engineering solutions and services contracts amounted to
HK$178,656,000 and HK$130,146,000, respectively.

Revenue from E&M engineering solutions and services is
recognised over time and the input method is adopted
to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of
services. The input method recognises revenue based on
the proportion of actual costs incurred relative to budget
contract costs for satisfaction of the E&M engineering
solutions and services.

The budget contract costs are prepared based on
management’s estimate, such as estimation of direct
labour costs to be incurred and quotations provided by the
major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved.

Significant estimation uncertainty is involved in determining
the budget contract costs recognised for contract works.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3, 4 and 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures included:

Obtaining from management an understanding of the budget
contract costs and how the budget contract costs were
evaluated;

Obtaining the breakdown of budget contract costs and, on
a sample basis, evaluated management’s estimation of the
budget contract costs;

Checking the basis of budget revenue to the underlying
contracts and variation orders on a sample basis;

Recalculating the revenue recognised with reference to
the contract costs incurred for the work performed to date
relative to the total budget contract costs; and

Checking the contract costs incurred to the amounts of costs
recorded in the direct labour costs, subcontractor payment
certificates and supplier invoices, on a sample basis.
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To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZH RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is CHIU, Caroline Su Yuen.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 June 2021
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains and losses, net

Impairment losses on financial assets and
contract assets, net of reversal

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS

OF THE COMPANY

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

Basic

Diluted

Yoz
SHERA

EM
HABYA
HAtWeas K B 1R
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KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2020/21

idated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

2021 2020

—E-—F —ZZTF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FiaE FHET FHET
5 224,839 224,228
(160,656) (152,897)

64,183 71,331

6 13,072 1,395
6 225 140
31 (144) (113)
(40,618) (46,059)
7 (261) (159)
9 36,457 26,535
10 (4,460) (4,923)
31,997 21,612

31,997 21,612

12

HK8.07 cents
8.077 L

HK5.41 cents
5.41784l

HK8.06 cents
8.0678 1\l

HK5.41 cents
5.417%1L




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ISR R

At31 March 2021 R=-—T——%=A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Deposits
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Contract assets

Pledged bank deposits

Time deposits with original maturity over
three months

Bank balances and cash

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and retention payables
Other payables and accruals
Lease liabilities
Contract liabilities
Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Net assets
EQUITY
Share capital

Reserves

Total equity

Notes 2021 2020
k=3 —E-—F ZT-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHT
EREEE
ME - BE KRR E 13 5,890 5,973
FRAEEE 14(a) 3,440 8,687
by 17 1,321 1,145
BEARBEFABENEREE 15 5,661 5,181
SEMENEELERE 16,312 20,986
RENVEE
FE 279 346
Z 5 W E 16 40,729 45,665
HRRIE B Kk
BRI 17 4,506 9,252
AHEE 18 63,880 63,125
BHEBEITER 20 13,826 14,045
REHABB=EAN
TE BT R 20 5,090 6,347
RITEBRRES 20 108,801 76,652
BNV EEBTE 237,111 215,432
ik A=Y
B RNFIBREMRE S 21 12,699 18,570
HAb e RE R IERT & A 22 12,540 10,699
HEaE 14(b) 3,213 5,611
AHaE 19 32,317 31,462
FERBIIE 340 448
BB ERE 61,109 66,790
MBEEFE 176,002 148,642
BWEERRBAE 192,314 169,628
IERBAE
HEBE 14(b) 318 3,090
EERIBAE 23 185 352
EmEBEEE 503 3,442
BEFE 191,811 166,186
MRS
& 24 4,025 4,000
&t 187,786 162,186
B 191,811 166,186

Mr. Luk Kam Ming
FEGE A
Director

EE

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip
BRI £
Director

BE

BRNEEEEARAT « —B-8/ =&
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GeERSER

For the year ended 31 March 2021

At1 April 2019

Profit and total comprehensive income

for the year

Equity-settled share option arrangements

(note 35)

Cancellation of share options (note 35)
Purchases of shares and contribution in
the share award scheme (note 36)

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020

Profit and total comprehensive income

for the year
Issue of shares upon exercise of
share options (note 24)

Equity-settled share option arrangements

(note 35)

Purchases of shares for the share award

scheme (note 36)

Equity-settled share award arangements

(note 36)

Veesting of shares under share award scheme

(hote 36)
Dividend paid

At 31 March 2021

BHE-_ZT—_—&=A=+—ALtFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
FAEHREAER
Shares held
under the  Share-based
Share Share  share award payment Other Accumulated Total
capital premium scheme reserves reserves profits equity
BRAEED  URGA
SHEET HBAR
A& ROEE BENRG 1] Hibfd Fahadl arEs
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THL FhL TATL TAL Fhr TAT
(note 36) (note 35) (note 25)
(it3p)  (HiEE3s) (Mi325)
RZZ-hFmA-A 4,000 47,552 - 1,166 14,339 77,078 144,135
FRENRZARGRDE
- - - - - 21,612 21,612
EaEERRETS (W20
- - - 845 - - 845
BT (W s5) - - - (1,706) - 1,706 =
BERN KR a2
MR (HH36) - - (858) - 452 = (406)
RITZTE=[=1-Ak
“E-TENA-A 4,000 47,552 (858" 305" 14,791* 100,396 166,186
FRRNRZARRAE
- - - - - 31,997 31,997
TR BRERRTRG (Witod)
25 886 - (263) - - 648
ERaERREZH (WH35)
- - - 695 - - 695
BERD R PRGN
(H3136) - - (143) - - = (143)
EaEERAREH RS
(Hi36) - - - 359 - - 359
RN REEEIB BRI (itse)
- - 176 (176) - - -
ENRE - (7,931) - = = = (7,931)
RZEZ—F=A=t-H 4,025 40,507* (825)* 920 14,791 132,393* 191,811

(2020: HK$162,186,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2020/21

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$187,786,000

*

ZEREBRE BERaMBERARERANES

TT(ZB-F4 1 162,186,000/87T) ©

f#1%187,786,0007%



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

meRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:

Bank interest income

Interest income from life insurance products

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

Covid-19-related rent concessions from a lessor

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Equity-settled share option expenses
Equity-settled share award expenses
Impairment losses on financial assets and

contract assets, net of reversal
Finance costs

Decrease in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables

Decrease/(increase) in other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Increase in contract assets

(Decrease)/increase in trade and retention payables

Increase in other payables and accruals
Increase in contract liabilities

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid for lease payments
Income tax paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Bank interest received

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Addition of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Withdrawal of time deposits with original maturity

over three months
Placement of time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Withdrawal/(placement) of pledged bank deposits

Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities

BE_ZT_—&=A=+—HIEE

Notes
B 5
KETBMEENHRSRE
KRB AT
HTFEAE
RITFEWA 6
ASRBEROFEUWA 6
HEME  BEREERE 6
BAREFABRENEREEN
RNRE W), BB 30
% E—% B AKICovid-19
HEESER 14
ME - BREREEITE 13
FRREEENE 14
RS E BT 35
RS E AR BB R 36
CREERANEERMERSE -
MBRE 31
BEKA 7
FERD

E BT D, ()

HibEUEIR - e RIERNFR
w1 hn)

BHEERN

HHENFBNENRES
(i), /42 m

Hofth J < 5ROR M B AT B R N

BHREEM

BEMELNRS
ERBEMRAE
ERAEH

RERBAELANRSREFHE

REBYHELNRSRE
EUERTTHIS

BEME  BEMHRE

HEWE - BERREBOPISTE

RERAAEAEBENSREE

TREURZIH A8 =18 A 10 E H
R

FARZIEREB=18A 8T
5K

BB/ (FA)BHEARITER

REFH(FIA)FEENRS

MEFER

2021 2020
—E=-F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiET FET
36,457 26,535
(342) (938)
(219) (173)
- (185)
(154) 1,207
(150) -
1,980 1,618
5,830 5,596
695 845
359 -
144 113
261 159
44,861 34,777
67 117
4,971 (4,719
4,570 (4,083)
(934) (13,705)
(5,871) 1,833
1,853 1,551
855 14,317
50,372 30,108
(261) (124)
(4,735) (5,948)
45,376 24,036
342 938
(1,897) (8,775)
- 287
(119) (6,240)
42,945 109,541
(41,688) (75,838)
219 (3,263)
(198) 21,650

BRNEEEEARAT « —B-8/ =&
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEBEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #H#E—T——F=A=+—HItFE

2021 2020
—E--F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHBL

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEFMEENRERE
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRMATSRIR 648 =
New bank loan ETILIRITEN - 2,600
Repayment of the bank loan ERIRITER - (2,600)
Purchases of shares for share award scheme AR SRENET BB E IR (143) (406)
Principal portion of lease payments HERNFAZE D (5,603) (5,582)
Dividends paid BARE (7,931) =
Interest paid BRFLE - (35)
Net cash flows used in financing activities REEBFTANREREFE (13,029) (6,023)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IR & IR & S EWIL N F58 32,149 39,663
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year ~ F#3E & RIREEEY 76,652 36,989

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF THE & RIBE& RIREEEY) -

YEAR, represented by bank balances and cash RPITHEBRRRIIT 108,801 76,652

62 KML Technology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2020/21



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2ARREEER
KML Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability SHEEEEEERAF((RATF]) A—HRFSE
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office SEMEZHBERAR o AR TR M IFERM
address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 1 A Cricket Square,Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681,
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° ZNA &)
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at B12, REBNEZEEMU AEBNRDHNERE D
G/F, Shatin Industrial Centre, Siu Lek Yuen Road, Shatin, New HIZEFROMH TBI2E ©
Territories, Hong Kong.
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its RARMEBEBAREERERENB AR (HHEA
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally [REE]) TZRFRMUME (BB TEFEAFTR
engaged in the provision of electrical and mechanical (‘E&M”) KPR o
engineering solutions and services.
Information about subsidiaries ERMBATNER
Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 are ARBIR_ZE-_—F=ZA=1+—BZKBRARFHS
as follows: Ul
Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary/ attributable to the Company
registration registered AAREEEZEAL
Name and business share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
TMRL BER BRTEER
A% BB EMRA E# G FTEER
Directly held:
HERF:
KML Group (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% = Investment holding
(“BVI")/Hong Kong
KML Group (BVI) Limited RERZEE (B E 100% - REEZR
RLEE)) /B4
KML eCommerce (BVI) Limited BVI US$1 100% - Investment holding
KML eCommerce (BVI) Limited BBREIHS e 100% - REER
Indirectly held:
BiEEE
KML Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 = 100% Provision of professional E&M
(‘"KML Engineering’) system engineering services
for railway and road transport
infrastructure projects and sales
of parts and components
BRMRTIEERAF BE 10,000,000/ 7T - 100% RERRRRRERER
(IBHREIR) RESXREZGTRRBR
HETM LA
KML Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$3,020,000 - 100% Provision of professional E&M
system engineering services
for railway and road transport
infrastructure projects
BHMEARAR BE 3,020,000%7T - 100% RERRARREARER
RUEZERS 2O TR
KML Capitals Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% Dormant
BHRERRRA B 10,000 7T - 100% EZT

BRNEEEEARAT « —B-8/ =&
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.1

BE-—ZF-—®F=H=+—HIFEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 March 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2020/21
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.1

2.2

BE_ZT_—&=A=+—HIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount
of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (jii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's
share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or accumulated profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group
has directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) and the following
revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year's financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Definition of a Business
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework and the
revised HKFRSs are described below:

(@) The Conceptual Framework sets out a comprehensive set
of concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and
provides guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and assistance
to all parties to understand and interpret the standards.
The Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on
measurement and reporting financial performance, new
guidance on the derecognition of assets and liabilities, and
updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets and
liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence
and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. The
Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of
the concepts contained therein override the concepts or
requirements in any standard. The Conceptual Framework
did not have any significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.

2.1

2.2
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE-—ZF-—®F=H=+—HIFEE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

()

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be
considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist
without including all of the inputs and processes needed to
create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of acquiring the
business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the
focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed
the definition of outputs to focus on goods or services
provided to customers, investment income or other income
from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration
test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group
has applied the amendments prospectively to transactions
or other events that occurred on or after 1 April 2020.
The amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address
issues affecting financial reporting in the period before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an
alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide
temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue
during the period of uncertainty before the introduction of
the alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments require
companies to provide additional information to investors
about their hedging relationships which are directly affected
by these uncertainties. The amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group as the Group does not have any interest rate hedging
relationships.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments
clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude
of information, or both. The amendments did not have any
significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A TS RR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.3

HE_ZT—

—F=A=+—HILFE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2'

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Insurance Contracts®

Insurance Contracts®®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current®®
Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfiling
a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
Nustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 412

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong
Interpretation & Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised in October 2020 to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.3

BE-—ZF-—®F=H=+—HIFEE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception
to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual
Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability.
The exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities
that would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if
they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after
the date of first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an existing
interest rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative RFR. The
Phase 2 amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the
effective interest rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying
amount when accounting for changes in the basis for determining
the contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the
change is a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark
reform and the new basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis immediately
preceding the change. In addition, the amendments permit changes
required by the interest rate benchmark reform to be made to
hedge designations and hedge documentation without the hedging
relationship being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could
arise on transition are dealt with through the normal requirements
of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The
amendments also provide a temporary relief to entities from having
to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR is
designated as a risk component. The relief allows an entity, upon
designation of the hedge, to assume that the separately identifiable
requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR
risk component to become separately identifiable within the next 24
months. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to disclose
additional information to enable users of financial statements to
understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an
entity's financial instruments and risk management strategy. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021 and shall be applied retrospectively, but entities
are not required to restate the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.3

BE_ZT_—&=A=+—HIEE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS
28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and
joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify that
if an entity's right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the
entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period if
it complies with those conditions at that date. Classification of a
liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

In April 2021, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements in which it provides guidance
and examples to help entities to apply materiality judgements to
accounting policy disclosures. The Board also issued amendments
to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
to support the amendments in HKAS 1 by explaining and
demonstrating the application of the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help
entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful
by:

Replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their “significant”
accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their “material”
accounting policies; and

Adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in
making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments upon adoption.
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2.3

BE-—ZF-—®F=H=+—HIFEE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

In April 2021, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
in which it introduces a new definition of “accounting estimates”.
The amendments are designed to clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors. Distinguishing between a
change in accounting policy and a change in accounting estimates
is, in some cases, quite challenging. To provide additional guidance,
the amended standard clarifies that the effects on an accounting
estimate of a change in an input or a change in a measurement
technique are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result
from the correction of prior period errors.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those
items, in profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied
retrospectively only to items of property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period
presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.3

BE_ZT_—&=A=+—HIEE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials)
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as
well as contract management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied
to contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations
at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first
applies the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of
initial application without restating the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments
to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS
16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to
be applicable to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other's behalf. An entity applies
the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which the entity first applies the amendment. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

o HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

o its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

. its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly;

o its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising

from the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the
joint operation; and

o its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to
the Group’s interest in a joint operation are accounted for in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2020/21

EXRSTHEEME

BERLES

BEEBIEER ARZGIENS T ZHE B2 LHE
MNEEEFRABEEN BN - HEE
BRI A O EE — AL BT A 2RI -
RZEHEEBREEERFRIEFIR AT ES
—HRABZREREFE -

REERAEEBRERRNTRIA
. HEE  SEARGENARIEZEE

. Hefl efEEGEARRARZEE

© HBERGAEEBERZUGE

. HRBHEREEBEBZBENE - &

. HF - BREEEEEAERAE M -

AEENREXBT 2REMINEE BF - K
mRAXDREBEERRZEEEE B WaEk
FX A EBU B RELRALR -

DREFE
FEFRSRERARARA B EBEERAABGTA
BRNEMEE - ARNEDEDS2EERGER
HETZAFRSTHEEEMBRERE G
SN2 B - AREFEDENLEEEREER
BZRGBELEEZEERBEZTEM SR (NET
EmH) A EERBEN &AM TSHRER -
ZEEMSIZENTEBERAEEREAZT
%o BERRBZARBERAMS2EEREER
B EEEMRANRRETIE (BRRTS2EEK
RFFENHIELBEMNRTE) ©

FEMEENARBEEFRMH2EEBBER
HEENSANRERSIEEREELE TRE
RESARRERZNS —ME2EEMELLE
FERHIRES °

AEERAEARNABBERLAIESTRBIRNMGE
ERMRFERAE FEEMERTERHAR
EmEERRER TR ARIE



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets and financial assets), the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE=Z=—

F=ZA=t—RLLFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person's
family and that person

(i)
(i
(i

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

U

(i)

(i

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the lease terms and 20%

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Plant and machinery 20%
Computer equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Cruiser 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new projects is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Project development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:
Office premises 1.51t0 3 years
Warehouse 2 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

(b)  Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)  Lease liabilities (continued)
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are separately disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of containers (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets to the containers that are considered to be of
low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on
equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are also recognised as other income in profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings or
payables, as appropriate.

These financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and retention payables
and other payables and accruals.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's own equity
instruments.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, and are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's
cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included as finance costs in
profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the provision of
E&M engineering services and sales of parts and components
for general repairs of defects occurring during the warranty
period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties granted
by the Group are recognised based on past experience of the
level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values as
appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(@) Provision of E&M engineering solutions and services
Revenue from the provision of E&M engineering solutions and
services is generated from the design, supply and installation
of systems and implementation of E&M engineering solutions
and services and design and fabrication services for the
fabrication of made-to-order products for the customers,
where applicable.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(@)

Provision of E&M engineering solutions and services
(continued)

Revenue is recognised over time, using an input method
to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of
the service, because the Group's performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced. The input method recognises
revenue based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
construction services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks
to collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs
and margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

Under the terms of contracts, the Group's performance
creates and/or enhances the assets which the customers
control during the course of work by the Group. Revenue
from the provision of contracting services is therefore
recognised based on the stage of completion of contracts
over time using the input method. The Group normally
receives progress payment from customers on a monthly
basis with reference to the contract terms. The Group
requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits at
rates ranging from 5% to 20% of total contract sum. When
the Group receives a deposit before the project commences,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract
until the full amount of deposits is deducted proportionately
from monthly progress payment.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the
same contract, is recognised over the period in which the
E&M engineering solutions and services are performed
and represents the Group's right to consideration for the
services performed and not billed because the rights are
conditional on the Group's future performance accepted
by the customers. The contract assets are transferred to
trade receivables when the rights become unconditional.
The Group typically transfers its contract assets to trade
receivables when progress certificate/invoice is issued.

Retention receivables, prior to the expiration of the
maintenance period which usually ranges from one to three
years from the date of the practical completion of the project,
are classified as contract assets. The relevant amount of
contract assets is reclassified to trade receivables when
the maintenance period expires, and/or the maintenance/
payment certificate is issued, and/or the final account is
issued.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)  Provision of E&M engineering maintenance services
Revenue from the provision of E&M engineering maintenance
services to the customers' facilities is recognised over time
when services are rendered during the contract period. The
services are billed based on the services performed.

(c)  Provision of E&M engineering design and fabrication services
Revenue from the provision of E&M engineering design and
fabrication services is generated from design and fabrication
services for the fabrication of made-to-order products for the
customers, such as control room consoles, public access
kiosks and terminals, relay racks, test rigs, control room
technical furniture and industrial enclosures and instrument
cabinets without supply, installation of systems and
implementation of E&M engineering solutions and services.

Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control of
the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of the goods to specific locations and customers obtaining
control of the goods.

(@)  Sales of parts and components
Revenue from the sale of parts and components is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
goods to specific locations and customers obtaining control
of the materials.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. Contract
assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories and
property, plant and equipment, costs incurred to fulfil a contract
with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following
criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(©) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates.
Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which
are given in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfiled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Shares held under the share award scheme

Where shares of the Company are gifted or purchased from the
open market for the share award scheme, the fair value at the date
of gifting or consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs, respectively, is presented as “Shares held under
the share award scheme” and deducted from equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Other employee benefits

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the
employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully,
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted
ORSO retirement benefit scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”) for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the ORSO Scheme.
The ORSO Scheme operates in a way similar to the MPF Scheme,
except that when an employee leaves the scheme prior to his/
her interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the
relevant amount of the employer’s forfeited contributions.

Dividend

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions, that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements and have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are set out below:

Contract revenue and contract costs from E&M engineering
solutions and services

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract revenue,
contract costs, variation orders and contract claims prepared
for each E&M engineering solutions and services contract as the
contract progresses. Budgeted engineering service costs are
prepared by management on the basis of estimation of direct
labour costs to incur and quotations from time to time provided
by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved and the
experience of management. In order to keep the budget accurate
and up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews of the
budgets of contracts by comparing the budgeted amounts to
the actual amounts incurred. Such significant estimate may have
impact on the revenue recognised in each period with adjustments
made on a prospective basis.

Recognised amounts of E&M engineering solutions and services
contracts revenue and related receivables reflect management’s
best estimate of each contract’s outcome and stage of completion,
which are determined on the basis of a number of estimates.
This includes the assessment of the profitability of on-going E&M
engineering solutions and services contracts.

For more complex contracts in particular, costs to complete and
contract profitability are subject to significant estimation uncertainty.
The actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be
higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future
years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date with
adjustments made on a prospective basis.

EXSRHER A

AEEVBRRNGHFEHEEE(FETER
=X é?&%tﬁﬁziﬁ SRR EARBER
HABBRBEOHE - BT RER - ZEBRRMA
SRR - AR BAR BRIV ENEE
FEENRAEEHERFE

HRUBBRAERNEEBEREAYEEAS
ER TR HRFEENEERABEREELRARS
EMEARRBOEZHE - A RREEIINAT

FKEMETERHATERBBH SRR EH K
7z

BEEANIREE  AEERNREIHRE—HHK
BIRMATREERBREENRERHNEHNZE - A4
KA BERIRRIES REHNREMET - TRRBEK
AEEHEEEBUAMPRNEERBDR - HENK
B TRHRENGETEENEERES TRARRE R
ERENKRAERMER - Eﬁ&%ﬁ%i&ﬁ&%
oERERANREESHEMELERS
TEHIE G QTR EEITRET - ﬁfﬁé/ﬂéﬁ.ﬁ& T%
HEfMERANNRERTE  REREEEDLH
o

HWETRBRRTT R ERBAE LU & AE R IR IR
MO ERCARREEEHEENNER KT
BREVREMET - DENE THFEE - SN
FBREZRETIRBRRATRERBEHNATIE
5 o

FRISEEMNEOME @ ERRARE NIRRT
ﬁ%ﬁﬁf%éjﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬂlﬁ g ﬁ@&ﬂiii@ﬂﬂl*Z
ERERA LR RER RS BRMEL 2 b5t
%%%%Iiﬁf’ﬁf’ﬁ_ﬁuaﬁ‘%%ﬁﬁﬁéﬂ@ﬁﬁﬁﬁw
Zﬂﬁlm&/ﬁna" RIAMEEE AR -

BRNEEEEARAT « —B-8/ =&

91



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4. EBERETHHERMGE @
ESTIMATES
Provision for ECLs on trade receivables and contract assets BEBENZEARSHEET N ARG EEEE
&
The Group calculates ECLs for the trade receivables and contract AEEFEESREUFERANEEEREESDS
assets. The provision rates are based on days past due for B BHEEERAGHEUSEER AREFPER R
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss ARE D) MFETRARTPHAMASHE - RSk
patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating). At every reporting date, SAHSEHTHEETR - 1IN - BEEAREH
the credit ratings are reassessed. In addition, trade receivables LEERENEZEBRIBERENEEREREE
and contract assets with significant balances and that are credit BB TTRIA, -
impaired are assessed for ECLs individually.
The provision for ECLs is sensitive to changes in estimates. The EREEBBREZIMAZHNTE - BELRE
information about the Group’s trade receivables, contract assets BEZEZEWHIE aHNEERBHEEBENER
and ECLs is disclosed in notes 16, 18 and 31 to the consolidated DRIRBERGEMBWMERMT16 - MizH18 Rz
financial statements, respectively. 31
5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5. WEkIHWER
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: AEEREASITIT -
2021 2020
—E=—F —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers REBEFELHKE
E&M engineering solutions and services WETIRERRTT R KR 178,656 184,501
E&M engineering maintenance services HWE TRIRERE 36,551 34,354
E&M engineering design and fabrication services WE T2 R R RS 8,363 4,434
Sales of parts and components HE T R 1,269 939
224,839 224,228
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (@ DIFBRBRER
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
By timing of revenue recognition: R R
Transferred at a point in time REERE 2 ER 9,632 5,373
Transferred over time BEE RS 215,207 218,855
Total revenue from contracts with customers RERFANNKZBE 224,839 224,228
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 BZE=—Z-—4=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Performance obligations
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2021

B —F

Within one year —FR
More than one year —F U
2020

—ETHF

Within one year —FR
More than one year —FE

Segment information

The Group’s operating income during both years was derived from
E&M engineering solutions and services, and E&M engineering
maintenance services with the focus on (i) the automatic fare
collection system at railway stations; (i) the electronic payment
and ticketing system; (iii) the road and tunnel toll collection system;
(iv) the traffic control and surveillance system; and (v) the railway
signaling communication and control system, E&M engineering
design and fabrication services, as well as sales of parts and
components during both years. For the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the chief operation
decision maker (i.e. the executive directors of the Company) reviews
the overall results and financial position of the Group as a whole.
Accordingly, the Group has only one single operating segment and
no separate analysis of this single segment is presented other than
entity-wide disclosure.

5. WKWakaIPER (E)
(b) EBREME
RRERR - PEEFBRBLHERT RELK
HOARBA)BORZERSEBOT ¢
E&M E&M
engineering engineering
solutions and maintenance
services services Others
WEIR BEIR
RRTT R K R RER® Hit
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET FExT
149,758 19,812 1,541
177,132 8,266 -
326,890 28,078 1,541
E&M E&M
engineering engineering
solutions and maintenance
services services Others
HMETRE HWETRE
BRR T R R RS RERS EHAth
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET FExT
214,989 34,037 5,254
128,601 28,956 -
343,590 62,993 5,254
DEER

RREFER  AEENREWARBKETIZR
RABRRRBREETIRRERT - EXR(HRE
HEOBBREBRS  ((1BFINRERBES ()R
R EBMAB RS (VBB RERRL
RWBBEFRBRAREG RS  BETRREE
BCARTSIA S SH E T K BBt - REIR D BC MR IRFF
EME  T2RERRE BIARRRTESR) BH
REBENEREARMBHN - Bt - AEBEES
—EE-KENBEEERBERMNKEN - L&
2IZE—DENEBAIN -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5. WK oS E R ()
(CONTINUED)
Geographical information ih & &
The Group’s revenue from external customers based on the place REBKBINBEE (ERNEELEMEM) IS
of operation of customers and non-current assets by jurisdictions FizaliER (EREEMENE) B0 IERSE
based on the location of the assets are detailed below: EFFMNT ¢
Revenue Non-current assets
g ERBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
B —E-TE B —ZT-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT FET FHT
(note) (note)
(Hat) (Hiat)
Hong Kong BB 219,641 219,468 9,330 14,660
Taiwan =) 2,354 3,482 - -
Canada IEX 41 207 - =
Others HAh 2,803 1,071 - -
224,839 224,228 9,330 14,660
Note:  Non-current assets comprise property, plant and equipment and right-of- Wi - FERBEECEYE  BERREAREFESE -
use assets.
Information about major customers EBRXEEFNER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing REEFEEAREEBIKRZFE10%U 2 BEREH
over 10% to the total revenue of the Group is as follows: T~
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Customer A BFEA 150,810 143,812
Other than disclosed above, there was no revenue from customers B EXFREEIN RBEE_T_—FK_Z_F
individually contributing over 10% to the total revenue of the Group FZA=Z+—ALLFE BEXEE-FFHK=E
during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. IEAREBBUREE10% A £ °
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 BZE=—Z-—4=A=+—HILFE

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6. HttARWEAREEFE
Other income Heibg A
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Bank interest income HRITFLEMA 342 938
Government subsidies (note) BT B (B 5%) 10,739 50
Recovery of a written-off trade receivable WEl#EE 5 R 0E 1,500 =
Interest income from life insurance products ANSRBERBF BULA 219 173
Sundry income TR 272 234
13,072 1,395
Note: The government subsidies represented government subsidies granted Btat . EATHEE)#5 R Covid- 19 1 TR B BT E) - B
due to the Covid-19 pandemic which include subsidies of HK$10,502,000 B EFE R E )G E)TE T 410,502,000 (—E=-F
(2020: Nil) under Employment Support Scheme and other subsidies of FB)REER237,000/8 TR R MHH (ZFE=F
HK$237,000 (2020: HK$50,000). % 1 50,00087T) °
Other gains and losses, net e
Hib= Rk BB FE
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BEK
equipment BELe - 185
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) HNEW S (B518) - JF5E 225 (45)
225 140
7. FINANCE COSTS o
7. BERE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: o
BERADITIAT ¢
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Interest on a bank loan RITERZFE - 35
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZFEA 261 124
261 159
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RIS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

8.

BE-—ZF-—®F=H=+—HIFEE

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)

8. EERESHM

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTETBAEHM
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to RIEGEM ET# A - FA R EEHIZE383(1)
the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and () of @ (o) OROERAR (FEBEEEFZFER)
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the ROIFE2E - FRNESHUHEBLOT -
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
Retirement  Equity-settled
benefit  share-based
Salariesand  Performance scheme payment
Fees allowances bonus  contributions expenses Total
BIER REGE
e HeRER FRIA FHEE BRERX i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TiEn TR TR TR TR TR
(note)
W)
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE-Z--FZP=1-HLFE
Mr. Luk Kam Ming (‘Mr. KM Luk’) ~ FEERSE ([REEBEE]) - 1,068 - - - 1,068
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung BEREE 60 628 31 31 - 750
Mr. Luk Yin Cheung BEYLE 60 612 17 30 - 719
Mr. Chan Chak Lun Phiip REBLE 60 1,236 62 99 151 1,608
Mr. Lau On Kok HREEE 161 - - - - 161
Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen BAGRE 161 - - - - 161
Dr. Tse Chi Kong HEREL 161 - - - - 161
663 3,544 110 160 151 4,628
Year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-ZE-A-T-HLEE
Mr. KM Luk BEERLE - 1,068 - - - 1,068
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung BERLE 60 604 3 28 - 725
Mr. Luk Yin Cheung BEEgit 56 547 40 26 - 669
Mr. Chan Chak Lun Phiip RERLE 60 1,200 70 96 264 1,690
Mr. Lau On Kwok UzBELE 144 - = = = 144
Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen BAGEE 144 - - - - 144
Dr. Tse Chi Kong AERIEL 144 - - - = 144
608 3419 143 150 264 4,584

Note: Performance bonus is determined by reference to the duties and
responsibilities of the relevant individuals within the Group and the

Group’s performance.

The emoluments of executive directors were for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive directors
were for their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors
of the Company have waived any remuneration during the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EERESHMGE@
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) (ESFM
The five highest paid individuals included two (2020: two) IEESHFALTEEREEZE T _—F k=
directors of the Company whose emoluments are included ZEF=ZA=Z+—HLEFEMEFTALX
in the disclosures in (a) above for the years ended 31 March (QBEBETFHNEARRME(ZE_ZF : MA)
2021 and 2020. The emoluments of the remaining three EE -REBEZZT-_—FR-ZT-_FTF=HA
(2020: three) individuals for the years ended 31 March 2021 =+—HIEFE  EH#R=%2(CZT_TF: =
and 2020 were as follows: B ANTHEHBIT -
2021 2020
—BC-—fF —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FExT
Salaries and other benefits e RAEMER 2,607 2,413
Performance bonus (note) FIRTEAL (B75%) 199 192
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses #5455 LAR D B ERE T
BRI 301 373
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFIFT AR 130 107
3,237 3,085
Note:  Performance bonus is determined by reference to the duties and Bt : RETFEAT 2 E R EBENE BEA B A R A T
responsibilities of the relevant individuals within the Group and the KURF LB X B RET -
Group’s performance.
Their emoluments were within the following bands: RENFHMELATEHE 2 A -
2021 2020
—E=—F R
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
AE AZ
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 721,500,000/ 7T 1 1
3 3
During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no REBEE_ZT=—FR-_ZF-_TF=-A=+—
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest HIEFE AEBEVYERARTRSTATS
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the NEW - EARSIEEMAIIMAREEE
Group or as compensation for loss of office. K ERE) S IE AR EE -
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9F

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BRBEADEF

ZISEI EADE RIS GEA) L TR EEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EFF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FHET FHET
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR 7 A 1,620 1,650
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment YIZ - BEREETE 13 1,980 1,618
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 14 5,830 5,596
Directors’ remuneration EE5ME 8 4,628 4,584
Employee benefit expenses (excluding directors’ BB @A S (T iEEE
and chief executive’s remuneration (note 8)): REZEITHA B R
(H1:%8))
Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 69,584 68,980
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIRERETEIE KR 2,902 2,779
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses MR EE AR BETE IR
Eolzah-a 903 581
Total employee benefit expenses EEEMNMAZEE 73,389 72,340
Cost of sales SHEMAR
- E&M engineering solutions and services — BT RRT R KR 130,146 126,578
— Others —Hib 30,510 26,319
Lease payments not included in the YR AHEAEAEY
measurement of lease liabilities HERK 108 86
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss SNEE (Uezs) /8518 - SR EE 6 (225) 45
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets BRAREHABRNEREE
at fair value through profit or loss 2B, BiE 30 (154) 1,207
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HE Y% - E MR EWES 6 - (185)
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FEBiMxX
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FiET
Current — Hong Kong BNER— &
Charge for the year FRRZ 4,656 4,527
(Overprovision)/underprovision in prior years BEEE (BEEE)BETR (29) 252
Deferred (note 23) IRIE (H17%23) (167) 144
Total tax expense for the year REERIBFRT BT 4,460 4,923
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2020: EBFE %%Ei;?i W#Ei’é%iﬂ’ﬂﬁéﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁﬂ
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong Z16.5% (T =T F - 16.5%) B R EHR RS
during the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a HEAEEET —FRBARMFEMAFIEHE R %'J

qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
first HK$2,000,000 (2020: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of
this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2020: 8.25%) and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%).

The Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman

Islands and the BVI pursuant to the rules and regulations in those
jurisdictions.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR Rk

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The tax charge for both years can be reconciled to the profit before

tax as follows:

Profit before tax

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5%
Income tax at the concessionary rate
Adjustments in respect of current tax of

previous periods
Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax losses not recognised

Tax charge for the year

11. DIVIDEND

Dividend recognised as distribution during

the year:

2020 Final dividend of HK2.0 cents (2019: Nil)

per ordinary share

Less: Dividend for shares held under the

share award scheme

The proposed final dividend of HK2.73 cents per share in respect
of the year ended 31 March 2021 has been proposed by directors
and is subject to approval at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

10. FRSHBIX ()

B A A
BREEMSHE16.6%tH 2 KA
REBRERBHAER
BRBEMEE IR R
BEMBZ BN

AR FE

REERIEE R

REFEHIAF S

FARER RIS,

“E-TERYKRSESREAR
208(ZZ—hEF : B)

A ARIEA D SRR SIS A OB LR

TR ESF E R B IR R S AT R B A s A B AR A TS

ExCEsE
AARHS ER2. 738 - WAFNERERRRF
K& LHE - HREE -

2021 2020
—Es——% —E-ETF
HK$000 HK$’000
TET FHET
36,457 26,535
6,015 AT
(165) (es)

(29) 252

(1,861) (184)

222 —

278 357

4,460 4,923

2021 2020
—E——% T -TF
HK$000 HK$’'000
FTHET FHET
8,000 -

(69) _

7,931 -

BT —F=-A=1+—RHILtFEE

BRNEEEEARAT « —B-8/ =&
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

12.

BE-—ZF-—®F=H=+—HIFEE

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount for the
year ended 31 March 2021 is based on the profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$31,997,000 (2020:
HK$21,612,000), and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue less treasury shares held under share award
scheme during the year of 396,544,000 (2020: 399,849,000). No
adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share amount
presented for the year ended 31 March 2020 in respect of a dilution
as the impact of the share options outstanding had no dilutive effect
on the basic earnings per share amount presented.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount for year
ended 31 March 2021 is based on the profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue less treasury shares held under share
award scheme as used in the basic earnings per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of 518,000 ordinary shares
assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise of dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares
and the effect of awarded shares.

12.

RAREBERERFEABGERET

HE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=1+—BULFEERELEF
SEIIRIBEARR A AELFANEF31,997,000
BT (CE-FF 1 21,612,00087T) * LWEFAD
AT E PRI I BURAR IR AR SR E AT B B B
EET7 A% 17396,544,000/% (= ZF —Z 4 : 399,849,000
B ETHE - AR ARTTERNBEREST2YSRER
BN eETEHEYE  WURENRBIHEE_Z
—EFZRA=+—BUFEMRINBREAEF
SREIELAE -

HE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—RHLFE tk%%@ﬂ
THERARRES AERFERNGF R B EITEER
DO S 15 BB 5T E F AR E AN 2 R B A AR IR B (D SE B
BB ENERERG lﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéi
B AR AL BRSATREREITHNS18,00008
BRAMNET SR ERRDOTETE -

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Earnings B
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the A B AMEAEZEF B A HEF] -
Company, used in the basic earnings per share ~ AR EFREARZT)
calculation 31,997 21,612
Number of shares
RHEE
2021 2020
—B-—f —TTF
'000 ‘000
T Fa&
Shares ®RH
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in 277 & @A IO BUR AT B EREL
issue less treasury shares held under the share  ZFIFT & A %D S2E) =1 8118 N6 8
award scheme during the year used in the EEfF AR D
basic earnings per share calculation 396,544 399,849
Effect of dilution — weighted average number of & 52 — 3@ A% AN T 19 28
ordinary shares
Share options fERs 129 =
Share awards A& 17 £EED 389 -
397,062 399,849
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Notes to Consolldated Flnancial Statements
e HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:

Asat 1 Apri 2019
Additions
Transfer
Disposals

As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020
Additions

As at 31 March 2021

Accumulated depreciation:

Asat 1 April 2019

Provided during the year

Transfer

Disposals

Asat 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020
Provided during the year

As at 31 March 2021

Net carrying value:
As at 31 March 2021

Asat 31 March 2020

HE-_ZT_—&=-fA=+—HAItFE

nﬁlﬂ B

R-F--%=fA=1-A

ZithE:
RZZ-NEMA-A
Enkk

BE

HE

RZZ-F5=A=1+-Ak
“E-ZENR-H
EnEfE

=

R_E--%=f=1-H

HEFE:
RZFZ-F=R=1-R

RZE-EEZA=1-A

N BERRE
Leasehold Furniture Plant and Computer Motor
improvements  and fixtures machinery equipment vehicles Cruiser Total
BihR
HENFEE BE%E  HERHE ShmE RE MR Eh
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
T THR i Tén Thn Thn Tén
1,958 87 2,95 6,823 2,236 364 5193
1,069 56 236 985 2423 = 4,769
(213) 62 151 - - - -
- - (102 - (700) (364) (1,166)
2,814 975 3,240 7,808 3,959 - 18,796
1,201 58 2 453 - 162 1,897
4,015 1,033 3,263 8,261 3,959 162 20,693
882 780 1,998 6,289 2,101 219 12,269
259 186 366 288 a7 £ 1,618
) 2 3 = = = =
= = (103) = (700) (261) (1,064)
1,136 968 2,264 6,577 1,878 - 12,828
626 37 351 396 551 19 1,980
1,762 1,005 2,615 6,973 2,429 19 14,803
2,253 2 648 1,28 1,530 143 5,890
1,678 7 976 1,231 2,081 - 5973

EHEREEEERAT c — BT/ " —FF§
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

14. LEASES 14. #HE
The Group has lease contracts as lessees for several properties. REBUERE TMENAMBAGILHEESH - Y
Leases of the properties generally have lease terms between 1 and HEZHEHR —MRAB1E3F »
3 years.
(a) Right-of-use assets @ mEAEEE - "
The carrying amounts of the Company's right-of-use assets AprEAEAENREERFAZSH N
and the movements during the year are as follows: 58
Properties
L/ES
HK$'000
FExT
At 1 April 2019 RZZE—NFHA—A 5,728
Additions NE 8,555
Depreciation charge heEEA (5,596)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-E-—TGE-A-+—AR-ZE-_THMA—A 8,687
Additions NE 583
Depreciation charge weEEH (5,830)
At 31 March 2021 R-_ZE-—_—F=ZA=1+—H 3,440

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at 1 April

New leases

Accretion of interest recognised during
the year

Covid-19-related rent concessions
from a lessor

Payments

Carrying amount at 31 March

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 31

to the consolidated financial statements.
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(b) HEEE

HEABNREERFAZEBNT

2021 2020
—E-—F T -TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
WA —RZEREE 8,701 5,728
wHE 583 8,555
FNTERZ ETHE
261 124
R E—% M AKCovid-191878
HEER (150) =
INES (5,864) (5,706)
R=RA=+—RHZKEmE 3,531 8,701
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FiT
DT
MENER S 3,213 5,611
SERBEB S 318 3,090
3,531 8,701

HO1RE -

HEEBEZIRBERD MRS P BIHKRM



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B RS ER AR MY EE
For the yearended 31 March 2021 BZE=—Z-—4=A=+—HILFE
14. LEASES (CONTINUED)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss for the reporting
period in relation to leases are as follows:

HEABZHE
EREEEZTEER

Interest on lease liabilities

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

Expense relating to short-term leases
(included in administrative expenses)

Covid-19-related rent concessions from a
lessor

GEAITERRXZA)
K —&HE AR Covi

Total amount recognised in profit or loss ~ AIESERH AT

The total cash outflows for leases are disclosed in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

FEMRE RAAE

Unlisted investments, at fair value

The above unlisted investments at 31 March 2021 were the
deposits paid for life insurance products issued by financial
institutions in Hong Kong. They were classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are
not solely payments of principal and interest.

The life insurance products were entered by the Group’s
subsidiaries with financial institutions on certain senior management
of the Group, including Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip and Mr. Luk
Yin Cheung, directors of the Company. Under the life insurance
policies, the beneficiary and policy holders are subsidiaries of
the Group. The Group's subsidiaries are required to pay a single
premium or annual premium for the policies and may request a
partial surrender or full surrender of the policies at any time and
receive cash back based on the value of the policies at the date
of surrender, which is determined by the account value net of
any surrender charge (the “Cash Values”). The policy premium
expense, insurance charges and surrender charges are recognised
in profit or loss. The life insurance policies have guaranteed value
or carry guaranteed interest of 4.25% per annum at first year, and
a minimum guaranteed interest of 2.00% per annum at the second
year and onwards.

HEHEEREMHERR

14. HE @&
(©) REEHERZEFHEMNNERBR ISR
LU
2021 2020
—E-— —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
261 124
5,830 5,596
108 86
d-19/8EAH & B
(150) -
6,049 5,806

MR R SR BRSBTS BRI EE33
PO -

15. BEAABEFABSNESHEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
5,661 5,181

MIZB-—F=A=+—H Lk tTRER®
BRECRBBETOASTRREMEINNIZS
ZEEMEOBREARBENABENEREE
FRREENANRSRELIFERINEAS KF

=1
oy

AEEWNBARESHEERAEESE ToRAER
B(BEARRESRERCEREEZ L)L
ABRBRE - REASRBRE  AEEBHBR
AAZHEARREFEA - AEBWB AR ZRZ
ERE—AUIHREENFERE  AERES
KO RFEREMRELNDERE AIRBREEE
WERE - SRS IRERSEENBREARR
BEF((ReEE]) - RERE RERBRERRE
HRBEANER - ABRBRERBEFERRE
FR425%:T8  BF _Fif » BRHEEREBEF =X
2.00%#t 8. °

BRNEEEEARAT « —B-8/ =&
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

15.

16.

BE-—ZF-—®F=H=+—HIFEE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

The Cash Values of the amount paid for the life insurance policies,
which are considered a close estimate to the fair values, were
HK$5,661,000 as at 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$5,181,000),
determined by reference to the Cash Values as provided by the
insurance companies. The fair value of the Group’s insurance
policies was measured using significant unobservable inputs (Level
3 of fair value hierarchy) as defined in HKFRS 13.

The aggregate carrying amounts of HK$5,357,000 (2020:
HK$5,181,000) as at 31 March 2021 were pledged as security for a
bank facility of the Group.

The entire balance of the life insurance products is denominated in
United States dollars (“‘USD”).

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group grants credit terms of 30 to 60 days to its customers
from the date of invoices on progress billings of contract and
maintenance works and sales of goods. An ageing analysis of the
trade receivables is presented based on the invoice date at the end
of the reporting period.

Within 30 days 30

31 to 60 days 31&260H
61 to 90 days 61£290H
Over 90 days B30 H

B REHERRE

Less: Accumulated loss allowance

Total 15T

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.
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15.

16.

RAARBEFABSNEREE ()

RABSRRRECHNFTENRESBEERAERAA
ENMAEGEE R-E-—F=A=+—8B%A
5,661,000/ 7C (ZE=ZF4F : 5,181,000%7T) * Jb
2ERBRAFRENECEEET - AEENRR
REMNAARBERABTBVIEREENEIZHFRTH
BATNAIBRGAZE AABEBLEEZMtE -

R-ZE-—F=ZA=+—H8 - BRAE#&(E5,357,000/8
T(ZE-FHF : 5,181,000/ T) D HEIFIEAARER
SRITRAE MRS o

ABRBEMNEZEEFIATT((ET))INE

B 5 BWEE

AEBBANNBETEEETREZAHREE
EmEmEEFRE0BEC0EMNEER - KiE
HIRENERZ A28 SRUGIBRE DT -

2021 2020
—E-—F T TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET
11,529 21,943
16,927 17,403
10,641 3,350
1,914 3,286
41,011 45,982
(282) (317)
40,729 45,665

AEBEEEFPZESIEREBNMERERAET
EFEP —RBELRNTEIN - BUEPHERK
EERE - REBBRE REEZ BRF RS
REEIRAESEHFPINGEERBRRER
K- SRERETHRaaREes ENLLARA
EEEFRMFBBSLREDHETFPZEE X
BEEASHEERAR - ES5REFBARTHER
I o



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

16.

17.

BE_ZT_—&=A=+—HIEE

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2021, included in the Group’s trade receivable
balances were balances from customers with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$18,873,000 (2020: HK$16,691,000) which were
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$1,197,000 (2020: HK$1,733,000) has been past due more than
90 days and was not considered as in default. The Group rebutted
the presumption of default under the expected credit loss model
for trade receivables past due over 90 days assuming no significant
change in credit quality after having an understanding of those
customers' background as well as the good payment records and
continuous business relationship with those customers. Further,
such long outstanding balances were primarily due to overdue
payment which was a common practice in E&M engineering
solutions and services. The Group did not hold any collateral over
these balances.

Details of impairment of trade receivables for the year ended 31
March 2021 were set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. The ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 March
2021 and 31 March 2020 were HK$282,000 and HK$317,000,
respectively.

As at 31 March 2021, trade receivables of HK$297,000 (2020:
HK$1,234,000) were denominated in USD. The remaining balances
are denominated in HK$.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Non-current: JERNES -
Deposits b

Current: BNHY
Advances to suppliers BT HAER
Prepayments TEfTFRIA
Interest receivables FEURILE,
Others Efth

Total 1RET

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables
for which there was no recent history of default. Their related ECLs
considerations are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

16.

17.

B 5 RWEOR ()

R-ZZBE-—F=A=+—8 KEBEBFHEKZR
EAEBREE 518,873,000 T (Z T - ZT4F :
16,691,000/87T) BN E FFUE » ZRERIRE B
HE B - ZEEBEHEST 0 1,197,0008 L (ZF
—Z4F : 1,733,000/ 7T) B HR B BO0KR K R4
REBEY AEEBETHZEEFPNE S NEZ
EXFHMROINRERSEEFEERE  BREE
BEERWESKEE) @ HEBHIOXNE Z B
HERHEEBEEATHELERR - ki R A
EEEBRTEHIREIRERIREMRENER
B - AEEW ER XS EBFETMAERR -

HE-_Z-—F=A=1+—HIEFE  EHEKX
ERBEZFBERREATBHREWES - RZF
——F=ZRA=t+—HEZEZZF=A=+—HHK
B S RBGRIETEREEBES R /282,000 T &
317,000 7T ©

RZTE-_—F=ZA=+—H8 BHEKZEH
297,000/ 70 (ZZ =4 : 1,234,000/ 7T) LAZETT
DIE o R T EEERIAETTYIE ©

Hits W FUR - RERANRE

2021 2020
—E-—F ZTEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
1,321 1,145
2,407 7,163
1,682 1,850

14 107

403 132
4,506 9,252
5,827 10,397

P EEMERMTERE - StA LGRS/
BERYMAMEOCE 2 BWKIBER - HEE
HEERIREN RS WIS MR ML -

BRNEEEEARAT « —B-8/ =&
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CONTRACT ASSETS

E&M engineering solutions and services #4% TI2AER 5 & &R
E&M engineering maintenance services #4E T2 R &= RIS
Others EHAh,

Total 15T

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same
contract, is recognised over the period in which the engineering
services are performed, representing the Group’s right to
consideration for the services performed and not billed because
the rights are conditional on the Group’s future performance
accepted by the customers. The contract assets are transferred
to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional. The
Group typically transfers its contract assets to trade receivables
when progress certificate/invoice is issued. The Group generally
provides their customers with maintenance period of one to three
years from the date of the practical completion of the project.
Upon the expiration of the maintenance period, the customers will
provide a maintenance certificate and pay the retentions within the
term specified in the contract. The increase in contract assets in
2021 and 2020 was the result of the increase in the provision of
engineering services at the end of each of the years.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as
at 31 March is as follows:

Within one year —FR
After one year —&1&

Total contract assets BHBEEE

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to
measure expected credit losses. The provision rates for the
measurement of the expected credit losses for the contract assets
are based on those for the trade receivables as the contract assets
and the trade receivables are from the same customer bases. The
provision rates of contract assets are based on days past due of
trade receivables for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating). The Group
applies the simplified approach to provide for the ECLs prescribed
by HKFRS 9. Loss allowance of HK$179,000 (2020: reversal of loss
allowance of HK$87,000) was recognised during the year. Details
of impairment of contract assets for the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020 were set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

BREE
31 March 2021 31 March 2020 1 April 2019
—B-—-F —EFF —E-NF
== ==, 1 mA—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER TAT FHET
61,359 62,381 49,320
2,212 744 -
309 = 13
63,880 63,125 49,333

BHEE  HBREMARSOEBNANEARE  RE
ETRREHHE®ER  RRAEEEEACD B
(ERCENGE:)IEEE e Savi- SV A FADEES
REPEMARERRKR - EHTFLBEMEMT
B ANEEBREZFREFA - AEBEREE
BHEEEE WEBEEANEESREEHE
WkiE - AREBEREEPRHEAHEE ERTK
RHEF —E2=FOREH - MREBERE T
FlRRMRERE RNA OETENRRANRE
o RIE—FR-_TRFANEELNTIA
REFERRE TIZARAEIL IFTEL -

REAZ+—B - A& A TE NG 3 E 50
o -

2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
52,059 61,573
11,821 1,552
63,880 63,125

REWMEBETRESTAST STBHREEERE - 5t
BANEERHEESBNBBEXRNENZER
BB REAGNEERE SERFIEHREH
—REEMR ANBEEMNBBRIIERABLUEE
BANSERTL AR (BNiRE P EE TR E
D) HE S IEFRB RS - RIEF B ISREE
RIZEOSRMIRE - ANEEER B AR BHE
BEE -  FADHEREBEE179,0008 T (ZE=
T EIERYERDS7,00087T) c HE-_T - —%F
F-E-EBE=R=+—-HIFEZANEENR
EFBEHRGR A M BREMGEST



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

19.

20.

BE_ZT_—&=A=+—HIEE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

E&M engineering solutions and services #4% TI2AER 5 & &R
E&M engineering maintenance services #4E T2 R &= RIS
Others EHAh,

Total 15T

The Group requires certain customers under engineering service
contracts to provide upfront deposits at rates ranging from 5%
to 20% of the total contract sum. When the Group receives a
deposit before the project commences, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract until the full amount of the deposit
is deducted proportionately from progress payment. The increase in
contract liabilities in 2021 and 2020 was mainly due to the increase
in short-term advances received from customers in relation to the
provision of engineering services at the end of the years.

TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY OVER
THREE MONTHS/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2021, bank balances and cash comprise cash held
by the Group and bank deposits carrying interest at market rates
which ranged from 0.01% to 2.07% per annum (2020: ranged from
0.01% to 1.61% per annum) with original maturity of three months or
less.

As at 31 March 2021, pledged bank deposits represented deposits
pledged to a bank to secure a bank facility granted by a bank to the
Group, carrying fixed interest rates ranging from 0.07% to 0.08%
per annum (2020: ranging from 1.64% to 1.94% per annum).

As at 31 March 2021, time deposits with original maturity over three
months carried fixed interest rate of 0.26% per annum (2020: rates
ranging from 1.26% to 2.56% per annum).

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of the
Group’s time deposits with original maturity over three months,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash are
denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ ATT

Euro (“EUR”) BT ([&oc))
Renminbi (‘RMB”) ARE(TARY])
USD E

HA G

Other currencies

19. AHEE
31 March 2021 31 March 2020 1 April 2019
—E-—F ZE-TF —E—hF
=A=+—8 =A=+—~H mA—H
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
Fix FET FET
31,775 31,354 17,029
233 108 99
309 = 17
32,317 31,462 17,145

20.

REBERBIIRBRBAOERE TEPREEAIE
T ERERNTFEENESENS%E20% AN H5H
H o AEBEREBRKIEEIRE - EBESHH
BEEAGHNAEE BEERENEVSBEAEENR
REDIFORR - — T —FR-_FE_TF/RYAREE
MEZRREREFARERFRIBHETERBENE
HAEA IR INFAER -

REPABB=EANERFR BEARTE
R BRITEBRREAS

R-T-—F=ZA=+—8 RITEHNELEE
AEERMERESREINSHAA=ZEASATRITE
FIENTF0.01%E2.07%(ZE-T4F : NFHF
0.01%%E1.61%) WMIFFFIEETE -

MN-TB-—F=A=+—0  AEBRITFEIEE
BPRITUARITHAEERLMRTEE IR
o REEFFNENR0.07%E0.08% (S =-F
FNFEFE1.64%E1.94%) 518 -

RZEZ—F=A=+—H " RIBEBER=EHA
W REEEEFME0.26% (ZE-_FF :
FHF1.26%%2.56%) BVIRTTIER

RB|EMR - AEBIATIIEEHEN R SRS

—EANERER  BERRITERLRITERR
REMRHEE :

As at 31 March

R=ZA=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHT
98,275 86,148
641 1,671
2,969 2,656
25,648 6,443
184 126
127,717 97,044
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

21. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYBLES 21. ESEAREREGRES
The credit period on purchases and subcontracting of contract BEERSBAHNIERBMNEERNTI0E60A
work services ranges from 30 to 60 days. The following is an ageing ATARBEMREREZAMEINNE ZEMNK
analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at TEARER AT ¢
the end of the reporting period:
2021 2020
—B--—fF —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FExT
Trade payables: B S EMARE
Within 30 days 30H A 2,050 7,311
31 to 60 days 31260H 115 171
61 to 90 days 61290H 122 115
91 to 365 days 91E365H 71 366
Over 365 days BiE365H 5,839 5,391
8,197 13,354
Retention payables ERRES 4,502 5216
Total trade and retention payables B RMNFELENRE B 12,699 18,570
As at 31 March 2021, included in the trade payables aged over RZEZ—F=A=+—H T ABSENRIEDN
365 days was an amount of HK$4,901,000 (2020: HK$4,901,000), BR R B3R 365 H A 3TE A4,901,0008 T (ZZE=F
representing the full provision for the Group’s contractual obligation, 14,901,000 7T) * ERAKEESNEEBERE
which was pending settlement as the Group was in dispute with o ZRBEFEE  DTHERASEHEYFARRK
the counterparty for the final settlement. No reversal of this payable BEGFEFEMR - REBE-Z - —FR=-ZT=F
was recognised during the two years ended 31 March 2021 and F=A=Z+—ALEMEFE I ERRE R ZEMNK
2020 as the derecognition criteria in accordance with the Group’s 15 ARBERNEESHESK  ETRERIEER
accounting policies were not met. A o
As at 31 March 2021, trade payables of HK$54,000 (2020: WZZEZ—F=A=+—8 ' EHEKIE54,000
HK$39,000) were denominated in USD. BT (ZEZFF 1 39,0008 7T) AZETTLIIE ©
Retention payables to sub-contractors of contract work are ERABEENENIERESARE  HARHASE
interest-free and payable by the Group after the completion of the AR & DS BT & SR B AR RE & 4938 T IK
maintenance period of the relevant contracts or in accordance with HEAT - BHRBERE TRAERTRERRBEE DTN
the terms specified in the relevant contracts, ranging from 1 to 2 HEBBET N F1 224
years from the completion dates of the respective E&M engineering
solutions and services contracts.
22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22, HitENRERESTER
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FiET
Accrued staff costs FERTB TR 4,272 4,100
Provision for annual leave FREE 2,700 2,416
Other payables H M RIE 5,568 4,183
Total other payables and accruals E bR IE R ERT B 4% 12,540 10,699
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

23. DEFERRED TAX

BE_ZT_—&=A=+—HIEE

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as

follows:

Impairment
of trade
receivables and

23.

EEBIH

FRRERIAB BRI

Accelerated tax

(accounting)

contract assets depreciation Others Total
B S RRFER INEBIE
BHEERNE (B e Hity et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT TAT
At 1 April 2019 RZZE—-NEFENA—H = 319 (111) 208
Charge/(credit) to profit M B,/ GHA) B
or loss (note 10) (Hizt10) (58) 91 111 144
At 31 March 2020 and RZTBZZF
1 April 2020 =A=+—-Hk
—T-TFNMA—H (58) 410 - 352
Credit to profit or loss (note 10) &t A1Bzs (B/a#10) (24) (143) - (167)
At 31 March 2021 RZTBZ—4F
=A=+—H (82) 267 - 185
24, SHARE CAPITAL 24. BB
Number
of shares Amount
RAEE &8
'000 HK$'000
TR TAL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREBE.OVETM LB
Authorised: y
At 31 March 2021 and 2020 RZE-—FK-Z-_FF=A=1—H 3,800,000 38,000
Issued and fully paid: BEAREEAR :
At 31 March 2021 RZZEZ—F=A=+—H 402,500 4,025
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZF=A=1+-H 400,000 4,000
A summary of movement in the Company’s share capital is as AARRAEEZHHNAT -
follows:
Number of Share
Shares in issue capital
BRTRHHE B
'000 HK$'000
Tk TR
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RIE—NEWMA—FB —E-TF=A=1+—H
k=Z-FTFNA—A 400,000 4,000
Share options exercised (notg) BATfRRERRE (4732 2,500 25
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—4=A=+—H 402,500 4,025

BRNEEEEARAT « —B-8/ =&
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

24.

25.

BE-—ZF-—®F=H=+—HIFEE

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Note:  Share options with rights to subscribe for 2,500,000 shares were exercised
at the subscription price of HK$0.259 per share (note 35), resulting in the
issue of 2,600,000 shares for a total cash consideration, before expenses,
of HK$648,000. An amount of HK$263,000 was transferred from the
share-based payment reserves to share capital and share premium upon
the exercise of the share options.

Details of the Company's share option scheme and the Company's
share award scheme are included in notes 35 and 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 60 of the annual report.

Share-based payment reserves

The Group’s share-based payment reserves comprise (i) the fair
value of share options vested which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy of share-based payments
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to the share premium account when the
related share options are exercised, or transferred to accumulated
profits should the related share options lapse or be forfeited; and
(i) the amount to be expensed as share-based payment expenses
determined by reference to the fair value of the shares under the
share award scheme granted, taking into account all non-vesting
conditions associated with the grants on grant date. The total
expense is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
vesting periods (or on the grant date if the shares vest immediately),
with a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserves
under equity. Upon vesting, the related costs of the vested shares
under the share award scheme are credited to shares under the
share award scheme, with a corresponding decrease in the share-
based payment reserves.

Other reserves

The Group’s other reserves mainly represent (i) the difference
between the nominal values of the ordinary shares issued by the
Company and the share capital of subsidiaries acquired through
an exchange of shares pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2018 and (i) the deemed capital
contribution from Mr. KM Luk, a controlling shareholder and an
executive director of the Company, in respect of the transfer of
2,000,000 shares to the trust of the share award scheme at nil
consideration, and details of the share award scheme are set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
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0.259F 771 ([15135) + BH LB 2 CIEHZE R
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

26. COMMITMENTS 26.

The Group had no material capital commitment authorised but not
provided for as at 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27.

The Group had the following transactions with related parties during
the year ended 31 March 2021:

Purchase of materials from Logistic

Industrial Supply Company Limited HEEWE (Hfita)
(“Logistic Industrial”’) (note a)
Rental payments S UNEiEkn

K M L Limited (note b) BEAR AR Hitb)

Notes:

(a) Logistic Industrial is a company over which Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung
have significant influence. The purchase prices of goods were mutually
agreed between the parties.

b) K M L Limited is controlled by Mr. KM Luk. Rental payments were on a
mutually-agreed basis.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had no material transactions and outstanding balances with
related parties during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel of the Group are the directors of the
Company. Their remuneration during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020 was set out in note 8.

Z3 ]

RIB-—F=A=+—H0 AEELEDREE

HARBBHOEABAAE (CT_2F  8) -
BEAR S

WE-T-—F=A=+—AILEY  AREER
BB T AR5

ER L TEEMARLR(ELIHD

2021 2020
—E-—F ZEEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHT

7 120

5,557 5,402

Hiat

(@) /gilii%/f’?ﬁ%@?%*f&%ﬁiﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ%g HIZ
7] - Ban 2 BRAEIB B E T HE HE

0)  EEERAFGEEGL Y - SAS BT RE
BEET -

MRZEM BT EMEPTREI - RBEZZTZ
i&f?fyi A=+— Eiif $E@E@Fﬁ
WM B AR S R AERLE

BREEASHH

ZK‘EEF%EEEE/\E?%ZK AEE- %&?%@i:
B —FR-FBCRE=A=+-RALFENS
ECWQIB%WJ
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

28.

29.

30.

BE-—ZF-—®F=H=+—HIFEE

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution schemes which
are registered under the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in
December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the
establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying
with the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas
all new employees joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000
are required to join the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s voluntary
contributions, the Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to
the MPF Scheme, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000, which matches contribution of the employee.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group at rates ranging from 5% to 8% of the
employee's basic salary, depending on the length of service with
the Group.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of HK$3,062,000
(2020: HK$2,929,000) during the year ended 31 March 2021
represents contributions paid and payable to these plans by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity of the
Group, comprising issued share capital and accumulated profits.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly taking into account the cost of capital and the risk
associated with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the issuance of new shares and the raise of
borrowings.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of financial assets
and liabilities which are due to be received or settled within one
year approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amounts at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

30.

HE-_T-—F=A=+—HIFE

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of deposits and lease
liabilities have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. In the opinion of the
directors, since their carrying amounts are not significantly different
from their respective fair values, no disclosure of the fair values of
these financial instruments is made.

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s assets:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 March 2021

BARE \EENSRERE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

As at 31 March 2020

RARE \EENSREE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

30. £RITAMNAAERAARERER(E
I TRAEGRF AR ENTERRR :
ReRHESBEZIRDBI 2 ARECRERR
BERUGR - EERRRFAFHNTANRIT
MEMBARARKR S RETE - FERE - BAA
REAEEESAZARBELEEAEZE - WHER
EzEemMIAEZRARE-
ARERER
TREMAEREE L AR EFEER
BRARENECEE
RZTB-_—F=H=+—H
Fair value measurement using
EATHBB AR ETE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
BX BX
WERWSZ ABR@HA TAUHE
BE £t WABE st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E-& (BE=®) (B=H)
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER THERT
- - 5,661 5,661
RZE_TF=RA=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ERATIEE AR EFE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
BX BX
KBRS Z AIEREA THEE
WE L6 BABIE et
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
E—HR (E=H) (B=H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET THT AT
- - 5,181 5,181

SHNREEERAT « ZE-F/Z-FFH
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

30. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 30. ERMIAMAARERAAEBERERGE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREBR (E)
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurement FRN2RMEERSE WEﬁﬁﬁ%‘Z%*i&&% —®
between Level 1 and Level 2 for both financial assets and financial ZARBEENEERE( CTSF  H)
liabilities (2020: Nil).
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair RZEZ—F=A=+—HERZZTEZZTF=A4
value as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020. =+—B FAEEHERAREHEZEAEREA
f& o
Recondiliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level PBEARAREERE=-RAZ AR ETELK -
3 of the fair value hierarchy:
HK$'000
FHET
Carrying amount at 1 April 2019 —NFUA—AZEEE -
Addition 0 6,240
Loss from fair value adjustment recognised in PITBES AR A BREEE
administrative expenses (1,207)
Interest income recognised in other income RE AR A AR 2 F EUA 173
Exchange realignment b H SRR (25)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZZEZZEF=-A=1T—HRK
—ZEFMA—RAZERAE 5,181
Addition 0 119
Gain from fair value adjustment recognised in RITE A AR 2 A EAR K
administrative expenses 154
Interest income recognised in other income REALIA AR 2 F S WA 219
Exchange realignment M 5 R (12)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F=A=+—RAZKEEE 5,661
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. &€@ITA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RREPARSER ST AEZERENT ¢
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Categories of financial instruments ST EER
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAxT
Financial assets SREE
Amortised cost HESHR AR 170,184 144,093
Fair value through profit or loss BRAnEst B 5,661 5,181
Financial liabilities =R
Amortised cost BN 23,472 34,117
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE—Z—_—4=A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 31. £MIA@

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, pledged bank
deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months,
bank balances and cash, trade and retention payables, other
payables and accruals and lease liabilities. Details of the major
financial instruments and the Group’s relevant accounting policies
are disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Directors review and agree policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Currency risk

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, certain bank
balances and cash, time deposits with original maturity over three
months, trade receivables and trade payables of the Group are
denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. RMB, EUR, USD, New
Taiwan dollars (“NTD”) and Singapore dollars (“SGD”). The carrying
amounts of the Group’s bank balances and cash, time deposits
with original maturity over three months, trade receivables and

BEBREEEEREE
AEENTIETRHMTABKEEZHRUGIAE - EftE
WA RIRS ~ BEMRITIER J?@H,@Eltﬂ—
BEANESRFR - RITHEBRRRE - EHEMNK
LENRES EHEFEHTAIE&P&“JEFHLA&TE
E1a c TREMTARAEERBEABERNFE
ARG BTSRRI RS ER.

AEEeRMIAEENTIERRAERRER - FIX
Rk - EERREAHEZRER  EFRILRE
ERZERR 2 WK A AR T o

gl

FEFRAABEAABENSBMEE - BTRITHE
#HEkEe RIFABE=EANERER BES
FEYTRIA N B 5 FE N IR IASNE BDA R - BUT
XL ek (T aew)) kg (#mgkx])))
FIME o MEIREMRINEDNER RNE B RITAEER
R RIMABE=MEANERER HEIHEK
FEARE SN FORMEREERNT

trade payables denominated in foreign currencies at the end of
each reporting period are as follows:

Financial assets Financial liabilities

SRMEE EHAas
2021 2020 2021 2020
:§:_¢ 7—7515 :g:—qi —7— E'E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET FHET FHT
RMB AR 3,000 2,656 141 9
EUR BRT 641 1,671 - =
uUsb E7T 31,606 12,858 54 39
NTD etk 155 104 4 12
SGD g 16 7 = =

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging

AE BRI MIMNEEIFIEER - A - ARAEF

policy. However, the directors of the Company monitor foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Since the exchange rate of HK$ is pegged with USD, the Group
does not expect any significant movements in the USD/HK$
exchange rates. Thus, there is no sensitivity analysis on USD
denominated financial assets.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change of 10% in foreign
currencies, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's
profit after tax due to changes in the financial assets and liabilities.

EIESME BRI AN T B E AP EAIMER
B o

BT BT RN - AREETEA R B TE
RWEAEMERES) - Ft - WEAETIENS
BMEEFRED -

Ti’%%@ﬁ”ﬁ%&iﬂﬁﬂi EAEMEE R &
BERT $‘$l&ﬁm§mﬂﬂ$mﬂ§;ﬁ‘&”§§é
BRIMEATBEEE10% A IR B B R BURE AT
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Currency risk (continued)

RMB AREE
EUR BT
NTD ek
SGD T

Interest rate risk

The Group was exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in bank
balances and cash and pledged bank deposits as at 31 March
2021 and 2020.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group was also exposed to
fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed rate time deposits with
original maturity over three months.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to mitigate
its exposure associated with interest rate risk. However, the
management of the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

Sensitivity analysis

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the expected
change in interest rate will not have a significant impact on the
interest income or expenses on payments for bank balances and
pledged bank deposits, hence sensitivity analysis is not presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to the failure to discharge the
obligations by counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statements of financial position at the end of the reporting period.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, trade receivables, contract
assets, financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments, pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original
maturity over three months and bank balances and cash.
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31.

BE_ZT_—&=A=+—HIEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for the determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group uses an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer's credit quality and define credit limits by customer. The
level of credit granted must not exceed a predetermined level set
by management. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year. Other monitoring procedures are in place
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under the
ECL model on trade receivables and contract assets individually. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on trade receivables
and contract assets in terms of geographical location, as these
receivables and assets which accounted for 99.3% (2020: 97.0%)
of the total trade receivables and 97.6% (2020: 99.8%) of the total
contract assets as at 31 March 2021, were mainly in Hong Kong.

The Group has concentration of credit risks on trade receivables
and contract assets with exposure limited to certain customers.
Receivables from the five largest customers amounting to
HK$37,205,000 (2020: HK$37,498,000) comprised approximately
91.3% (2020: 82.1%) of the Group’s trade receivables and 81.0%
(2020: 88.2%) of the Group’s total contract assets as at 31 March
2021. As at 31 March 2021, 65.6% (2020: 63.8%) of the Group’s
trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer.

Pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over
three months and bank balances and cash

The Group has a concentration of credit risk on pledged bank
deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months
and bank balances deposited with a few major banks. The credit
risk on these balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with good reputation and with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

Financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

The management of the Group regularly reviews and assesses the
credit quality of the counterparties. The Group uses 12-month ECLs
to assess the loss allowance for financial assets included in other
receivables, deposits and prepayments since these receivables are
not past due and there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Based on internal credit assessment,
the directors of the Company consider that these assets are low
credit risk financial assets due to the short-term nature and the
probability of default is negligible. Hence, no loss allowance was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

Other than the concentration risk as disclosed above, the Group
does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk.

31.

- =N )]
BEEAREEREEERBE (&)

EE R R BEFE ()
B SRR RAKEEF AR AR EE

AREEREEERR  AREEEEEZIR— /)
B AEETEERBELEEMRE - BEREAHE
PRl AEBERAABEENS ZRFHEERP
MERARRREPAENEERE - IRHER
KFENGHBBERERERENKF - BF—KE
B8 EPHBARE LTS - ETHMESREF @ Ui
RERIRAEREIE - WRBHER - b - AEE
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 31. SWMIAG@
Financial risk management objectives and policies MR EE EERBUR ()
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) =B E R E S (E)
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TR ENRAEBEERRZEELCE RS
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which BRERE - F2ERNGBMER GRIEEMER T EEE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information NHEABERARE NNBERTES) KR=A
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging ST —HAZFEBRBROE FEIEERTHEE
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross REHBEZRIREE -
carrying amounts for financial assets and contract assets.
As at 31 March 2021 R-B-_—-F=H=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f8A
BHEEESR RENEHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F-BE FoBE 123 fE R % st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET TET
Trade receivables Z 5 e A - - - 41,011 41,011
Contract assets BHEE - - - 64,092 64,092
Financial assets included in other FHAH A EURIE -
receivables, deposits and R RENHEZ
prepayments TREE 1,738 - - - 1,738
Pledged bank deposits BIKAIETER 13,826 - - - 13,826
Time deposits with original maturity — FREH3 B BB = 1@ A K
over three months THER 5,090 - - = 5,090
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRE 108,801 - - - 108,801
129,455 - - 105,103 234,558
As at 31 March 2020 RZE-_TF=F=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f8A
EHEEER FEREHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
R ERB E=RB LA ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL
Trade receivables B S MR - - - 45,982 45,082
Contract assets BHEE - - - 63,158 63,158
Financial assets included in other FHAH A EURIE -
receivables, deposits and Be kENHEZ
prepayments EREE 1,384 - - = 1,384
Pledged bank deposits BIERRITER 14,045 = = = 14,045
Time deposits with original maturity — FREHI B BB =18 A K
over three months TEHER 6,347 - - = 6,347
Bank balances and cash BITHEBRER S 76,652 - - - 76,652
98,428 - - 109,140 207,568
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31.

BE_ZT_—&=A=+—HIEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 31. SWMIAG@
Financial risk management objectives and policies MR EEEERBUR ()
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) =B E R E S (E)
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables, contract assets REMEHAR - BEHEKFIAE - ANEERTAHAM
and financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and FEWRIE - R REBNRENSREE ZBRE
prepayments as at the end of the reporting period are reconciled to ERERBYEERE  HRNT
the opening loss allowances as follows:
Financial assets
included in other
receivables,
Trade Contract deposits and
receivables assets prepayments Total
A fhFEL
RE - Ee
RAEMRE
B 5 EWRIE BREE NemEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHAET FAT
At 1 April 2019 RZZ—NFHA—H 117 120 = 237
Impairment losses/(reversal  JBEE,/ (REEE
of impairment losses), net  #[0)) ;¥ %8 200 87) = 113
At 31 March 2020 and RZZTZZEF=R=+—H
1 April 2020 ;- -TFMA—H 317 33 - 350
Impairment losses/(reversal  SRfER1E,/ (B EIR(E
of impairment losses), net  E518) ;¥ 48 (35) 179 - 144
At 31 March 2021 RZZZ—5=A=+—H 282 212 - 494

The estimated loss rates and risk level are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two years past
due, whichever occurs earlier. Trade receivables of HK$650,000
were written off by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group reversed
provision of impairment allowance of HK$35,000 and made
provision of HK$179,000 (2020: provision of HK$200,000 and
reversal of HK$87,000) for trade receivables and contract assets,
respectively. No impairment allowance was made on debtors with
significant balance during the year ended 31 March 2021.

EETEERERRARERDRBEELBRENEMRE
BAMBHFEHGET  TEREBEEFTBZRARE
NENAES AT ERHEL AR - BEET R
AEESE AR EEBANBBEEMMRSE
# o

MEERNBETREBATRERENHRELE ARK
BRI E YT (NERAEFRIGEARER
Fr) » RESREFBEDBHBEBME URFEER
%) AREEMEZRE SRKFE - REE-T
“REZA=+—ALFE  AEEMBEEZEK
FKIE650,0004 7T °

BE_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HIFE £KEERE
ZEWRIB R A& HEED B REBEE#35,000
BT R ETIREE179,00008 T (Z S - T 4F : B
200,000/ 7T & #[8187,000/87T) - REE - ——
FZAZT—ALFE VERABEREHHE
IEAVEHIRE R -

BRNEEEEARAT « —B-8/ =&

119



120

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

31.

32.

BE-—ZF-—®F=H=+—HIFEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of unexpected fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group is required
to pay.

R-ZB-—-F=A=+—H

EHRNTAREMRES

STARMEN AL ER B
MERaE

HEAE

As at 31 March 2021

Trade and retention payables

Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals

Lease liabilities

R-B-2F=A=+-H
BHRMNFRRENRE S

As at 31 March 2020

Trade and retention payables

Financial liabilities included in other AR N RIEREER
payables and accruals neEmas

Lease liabilities HEBE

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEES

As at 31 March 2021, performance guarantees of approximately
HK$5,424,000 (2020: HK$5,424,000) were given by a bank in
favour of the Group’s customer as security for the due performance
and observance of the Group’s obligations under the contracts
entered into between the Group and its customer. If the Group
failed to provide satisfactory performance to its customer to whom
the performance guarantees had been given, such customer may
demand the bank to pay to the customer the sum or sum stipulated
in such demand. The Group would become liable to compensate
such bank accordingly. The performance guarantees would be
released upon completion of the contract works. The performance
guarantees were granted under a banking facility.
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SRT A
BEEAREEREEERBE (&)
REERDESRRE  AEBESERGIFELRRE

BREZENRSMREFEYKF  UBENAEE
BEED MRERSREBREEINPNTE -

TRAMAEEITESBREBENHR T ENEHIE

Mo ZRENEBEERAEFAENNRZFEH
AR RR S RERE
On demand
or within 1 year Over 1 year Total
BRERIMER R—F# et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
7,798 4,901 12,699
7,242 - 7,242
3,258 322 3,580
18,298 5,223 23,521
13,669 4,901 18,570
6,846 = 6,846
5,865 3,130 8,995
26,380 8,031 34,411
32. BHER

N_Z-—FZA=+—H  BLHERLS5,424,000
BIL(ZE T4 : 5,424,00087T) HERITARE
ERFAI=AEL  (EARERNRETAEE
RAEBEZEFFILNANBTIEBOER - 14
REBEBRERERATFEOERNEZFREHES AR
ENEY LB ESRITHE I xR EK
R ERPRIANGIE - AEEABLEERZSE
IRITIELHE - BOERERAHNIREE TRER
B o BROERBIZBRITRERD -
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 BZE=—Z-—4=A=+—HILFE

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 33. MEHSRERME
FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@) FEHFBEERH

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$583,000 (2020:
HK$8,555,000) and HK$583,000 (2020: HK$8,555,000),

RER  AEERYEZHER

BEEHIE

fﬁ%zﬁaﬂi%%é&&fﬁ;,\F"E\Jﬂ%
583,000 L (=T =% i 8,555,000/ 7T)
583,000 7T (ZF —F 4 : 8,555,000%

respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for properties.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

JT) ©

(b) BEFTHELEZEBEEDY

Bank Lease
borrowing liabilities
RITHEE HEaE
HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FExT
At 1 April 2019 R-Z—hEMA—A - 5,728
Changes from financing cash flows MERSREH (35) (5,582)
New leases e - 8,555
Interest expense B 35 124
Interest paid classified as operating cash ~ D fEAKELBERENEHFE
flows - (124)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZEZEF=A=+—AHK
—T-ZFEMA—H - 8,701
Changes from financing cash flows MEREREE = (5,603)
New leases ¥HEE - 583
Interest expense FEFAZ - 261
Interest paid classified as operating cash ~ D fEAKEBERENEHFE
flows - (261)
Covid-19-related rent concessions froma  2RE —%& H A K Covid- 198 £ &Rk
lessor - (150)
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F=HA=+—H - 3,531
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEZRESARHHAE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of ARG RERZAERSRHETWT ¢
cash flows is as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —EF-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FERT
Within operating activities R & EBEERN 369 210
Within financing activities REEEBEER 5,603 5,582
5,972 5,792
34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 34. HAREE

At 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2020: Nil).

MIZB-—F=A=+—H0 AEEILELFEKR

IREECE_ZF | -

SHNREEERAT « ZE-F/Z-FFH

121



122

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

35.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Upon passing an ordinary resolution on 20 September 2017,
the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) which will remain valid for a period of 10 years
commencing on 16 October 2017. The major terms of the Share
Option Scheme are set out below:

U

(i)

(i

(iv)

(vi)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the directors and
employees of the Group have made or may make to the
Group.

The participants included any director or employee of the
Group which, in the opinion of the Company's board of
directors, has contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
might be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time. The number of shares issued and to be issued
in respect of which options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company's
shareholders. Options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director in excess of
0.1% of the Company's share capital or with a value in
excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the
Company's shareholders.

In relation to each grantee of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme, the right of the grantee to exercise
the option shall be in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme and the period to be notified by the board
of directors of the Company to each grantee which shall not
exceed 10 years from the date upon which the options are
deemed to be granted and accepted.

The exercise price of an option will be determined by the

board of directors of the Company and will not be less than

the highest of:

o the closing price of the share on the date of grant;

. the average closing price of the share for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

o the nominal value of the share.

A consideration of HK$10 per grant is payable on
acceptance of the offer of grant of options.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2020/21
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35.

BE_ZT_—&=A=+—HIEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, 9,200,000 options were
granted to a director and employees of the Group on 3 September
2018 for the provision of services to the Group. The vesting
period of the first tranche of share options was from 3 September
2018 to 2 March 2019 (“First Tranche of 2018 granted”). The
vesting period of the second tranche of share options was from
3 September 2018 to 2 March 2020 (“Second Tranche of 2018
granted”). The details of the First Tranche of 2018 granted and
Second Tranche of 2018 granted are identical except for the
difference in vesting periods as mentioned above. The fair value
of the share options at the date of grant was calculated using the
Binominal Option Pricing Model. The fair value of the share options
granted on 3 September 2018 is HK$1,706,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the 9,200,000 options
were cancelled and 9,800,000 options were granted to a director
and employees of the Group on 2 January 2020 for the provision
of services to the Group. The vesting period of the first tranche of
share options was from 2 January 2020 to 30 June 2020 (“First
Tranche of 2020 granted”). The vesting period of the second
tranche of share options was from 2 January 2020 to 1 January
2021 (“Second Tranche of 2020 granted”). The vesting period
of the third tranche of share options was from 2 January 2020 to
30 June 2021 (“Third Tranche”). The details of the First Tranche
of 2020 granted, Second Tranche of 2020 granted and Third
Tranche are identical except for the difference in vesting periods as
mentioned above. The fair value of the share options at the date
of grant was calculated using the Binominal Option Pricing Model.
The fair value of the share options granted on 2 January 2020 is
HK$1,057,000.

The inputs into the valuations of the share options were as follows:

Share price at grant date R B HRRE
Exercise price 111818

Risk-free rate (note a)

Expected life (note b) TEEASF B (K 5tb)

HER S
TR0 (A i)

Expected dividend yield
Expected volatility (note c)

Notes:

(a) Risk-free rate is determined by reference to the prevailing rates on debt
securities as reference from Thomson Reuters.

b) Expected life is the exercise period of the share options.

(c) Expected volatility is estimated by calculating the historical daily share price
volatility of the stock price of the Company.

ER AR (Heta)

35.

BB 8 ()

HE-Z—NF=A=1+—HILFE » 59,200,000
DEBRER T \FLAZBRTAEEEER
BB @ tEARAEEIRERFNER - &I ERE
NEBHA-_ T N\ENA=ZAE-_Z—HhE=A
TH(ZE-NERENER]) - EHERED
BEHA T NFNLA=ZHE-_ZT-_ZTF=HA
“H(ZE-NEEHNE-M]) - —T—\FH
EHEHE - N\FEENE _SERENTES
R EXLEBEEEZE - NREBHE
BENAABEFEA_EHECEENNE K%
—N\FNLA=ZBRENEREND R EAT,706,000
BT e

HE-_ZT-THE=-A=+—HIFE - F9,200,000
DEREEGHEEN _-_ZT-_ZE—-HA-R0F
9,800,000 R ER TASEEERIES ' 1EAM
AEERERFENEN - SHERENEBEH A=
T_EF-AZHEZE_TFAA=+H(=F
—EEEHNER]) - EoMERENRBH A
T-EF—-—A-HE-_ZE-_—F—A—H([=Z28=
EEFHNE-H]) - FHERENRBH A
T-TEF—_f-HAZ-_E-—&~XA=+B(&=
#]) —E_TEFREMEY  —F_TFEHM
FRRE-MEBRENFERR - LS
BHRTEEZE HNELANERENAREFER=
ERRETERRAE R -_ZF—-A-_HEH
HIBERRMERY A 1 841,057,000 7T ©

BRIEMGENMABERLT

Share options Share options

granted on granted on

2 January 3 September
2020 2018
RZTZZTF RZT—N\F
—AZARE HhA=ZBEH
RS AR B RE R
HK$0.250 HK$0.385
0.250/8 7T 0.385/# 7T
HK$0.259 HK$0.385
0.259% 7T 0.385/# 7L
2.056% 2.112%

5 years 5 years

54F 5%

0% 0%

54.96% 61.93%

Pt :
@ REBRFHEDSEIREEUARES RS BITHE
-

) TR TR o
©  EHRETHERR AR AL 6 RS
e
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 BE=—T——4=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 35. WEAAERHE ()
The following share options were outstanding under the Share RERN - BIREFTEIIET 2 T3 B ARE & RETT
Option Scheme during the year: & -
2021 2020
—EC-—F —ToEF
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
IEF9TEE BREHE IETHTEE FERRiES A
HKS$ per share ’000 HK$ per share '000
BRET TR TR T
At 1 April HrEA—A 0.259 9,800 0.385 9,200
Cancelled during the year F A7t - - 0.385 (9,200)
Granted during the year A% H - - 0.259 9,800
Exercised during the year ER7TT{E 0.259 (2,500) = =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 0.259 7,300 0.259 9,800
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options R AR M AR TR 2 AR 2 1T B RITE A
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 1S 8

Exercise prices

Number of HK$
options per share Exercise periods
TEE
BRESE FREBET 1T
31 March 2021 1,600,000 0.259 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2025
—E-—-F=ZH=+—H —E_EF+A—-HE-ZE-HF—HA—H
2,700,000 0.259 2 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
—E-_—F—A-HE-ZE-HF—HA—H
3,000,000 0.259 1 July 2021 to 1 January 2025
B —FtA-HBE=-E-HF—A—H
31 March 2020 3,500,000 0.259 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2025
—E-ETF=A=+—H —E-TF+tA—HE-ZT-_HAF—HF—H
3,300,000 0.259 2 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
—E- 4 —-A-HE-Z-_HF—A—H
3,000,000 0.259 1 July 2021 to 1 January 2025
—ECFtA-HEZZ-_RF—A—H
The Group recognised a share option expense of HK$695,000 AEERBE_Z-—F=-A=T—HLFEER
(2020: HK$845,000) during the year ended 31 March 2021. B MR #EF 2 695,000 T (ZZE T4 : 845,000/
JT) °
The 9,200,000 share options cancelled during the year ended REBEE_TE-_ZEF=-A=+—BLEFEZTH
31 March 2020 resulted in the acceleration of the share option 9,200, OOOP%HX%%@UJD REBREEIETHE
expenses for the Share Option Scheme of HK$98,000, which was fE#EMZ098,0008 L WREE-ZT_TF=A4
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2020. = +—HIEFERBEZEER - A& E9,200,00017
The corresponding Group’s share option reserve for the 9,200,000 AR IEFE B R (R B R 2 Rt A o

share options was transferred to accumulated profits.
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35.

36.

BE_ZT_—&=A=+—HIEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 7,300,000
(2020: 9,800,000) share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 7,300,000 (2020: 9,800,000) additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$73,000
(2020: HK$98,000) and share premium of HK$1,818,000 (2019:
HK$2,440,000) (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 7,300,000 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 1.8% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the total
number of shares available for issue pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme was 21,000,000 shares, representing approximately 5.2%
of the shares in issue of the Company.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 5 November 2018, the Company adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) for the purpose of
recognising the contributions by certain eligible persons for the
growth and development of the Group and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group.

Eligible persons of the Share Award Scheme include any employee
of the Group; any executive or non-executive director (including
any independent non-executive director) of the Company, any of
its subsidiaries, customers, suppliers, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support,
shareholders of any member of the Group or any invested entities,
any person or entity which has contributed to the Group or its
business; and any other person selected by the board of directors,
and if applicable, including its executive committee at its sole
discretion, provided that the eligible persons for participation in the
Share Award Scheme (the “Selected Participants”) remain at all
times after the date of grant and on the relevant vesting date being
eligible person of the Group.

The maximum number of shares currently permitted to be granted
under the Share Award Scheme is limited to 10% of the total
number of issued shares as at the date on which the Share Award
Scheme is adopted by the board of directors. The maximum
number of shares which may be awarded to each eligible person
in the Share Award Scheme in any 12-month period is limited to
1% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company in any
12-month period from time to time.

Selected Participants are selected and the number of shares to
be awarded under the Share Award Scheme is determined by the
board of directors. The shares to be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme are purchased by a trustee (the “Trustee”) from the
open market out of cash contributed by the Group or by way of gift
and be held on trust for the Selected Participant until such shares
are vested with the Selected Participants in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Award Scheme.
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36.

BE-—ZF-—®F=H=+—HIFEE

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any
shares held on trust for the Group or the Selected Participants.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company purchased
595,000 (2020: 1,665,000) of its own shares through the Trustee
from open market. The total amount paid to acquire the shares was
HK$143,000 (2020: HK$406,000) and has been deducted from
equity. In addition, 2,000,000 shares were contributed by Mr. KM
Luk, the controlling shareholder and an executive director of the
Company to the trust of the Share Award Scheme as gift during
the year ended 31 March 2020. The fair value of those shares
contributed amounted to HK$452,000. The aggregate amount paid
to acquire the shares and the fair value of the share contribution of
HK$143,000 (2020: HK$858,000) has been deducted from equity
and the shares were classified as treasury shares of the Company as
they were not yet awarded to any selected participants.

The movements in the Company's shares held under the Share
Award Scheme during the year are as follows:

At 1 April 2019 n=
Purchases of shares %E\HX@}
Gifting of shares B8 ARG 1

At 31 March 2020 i
Purchases of shares BERGD
Vested during the year FRHE

At 31 March 2021

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 2,550,000 awarded shares
were granted under the Share Award Scheme with a fair value of
HK$561,000. Equity-settled share award arrangement expense
of HK$359,000 was recognised during the year ended 31 March
2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 800,000 shares were
vested to an eligible participant under the Share Award Scheme
(2020: Nil).
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37. ZARATHHMRRE
COMPANY
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB A RAIRE 107,549 107,549
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amount due from a subsidiary JEU — BB A B FRIE 27,340 29,215
Prepayments B3R 718 848
Cash and bank balances R RIRTTHES 2,663 13
30,721 30,076
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBARE
Accruals fExt & A 135 140
Net current assets REBEETFE 30,586 29,936
Net assets EERE 138,135 137,485
CAPITAL RESERVES EARGFHE
Share capital A& A< 4,025 4,000
Reserves (note) e (K13 134,110 133,485
Equity attributable to owners of the Company &2 B#H A B RER 138,135 137,485
Note: Htat -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: AR EEEBERLIT -
Share-based
Share Other payment Accumulated
premium reserves reserves losses Total
LARS 47 B B
BRARE Hitfk e RitEE FoRy
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHT FiT F#T FT
(note 35)
(Kt+%35)
At 1 April 2019 RZZT—NAFMNA—H 47,552 107,549 1,166 (23,534) 132,733
Loss for the year FREE = = = (99) (99)
Equity-settled share option AR BT B (175235)
arrangements (note 35) - - 845 - 845
Cancellation of share options (note 35) it $&BEAAE (417735) - - (1,706) 1,706 =
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZZ-TF=A=+—HK
TFMA—H 47,552 107,549 305 (21,921) 133,485
Profit for the year FEREF - - - 7,055 7,055
Issue of shares upon exercise of share  {T{FIEARHER 1T
options (note 24) (Hiito4) 886 - (263) - 623
Equity-settled share option iR BT B (175235)
arrangements (note 35) - - 695 - 695
Equity-settled share award 1 o 45 AR () B2 2 B
arrangements (note 36) (Hi:£36) - - 359 - 359
Vesting of shares under share award  B&17 22 @) 51 &I 53 AL 1D
scheme (note 36) (H17#36) - - (176) (176)
Dividend paid BERRE (7,931) - - (7,931)
At 31 March 2021 RZZE-Z—f=A=+—H 40,507 107,549 920 (14,866) 134,110
38. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATAED FINANCIAL 38. HEREHBHE®ME

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 17 June 2021.
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Financial Summary
Sy

RESULTS S

Revenue &

Profit before tax BR A AT 352 )

Income tax expense FriSHiF X

Profit/(loss) for the year and total NRRER AEh
comprehensive income/(loss) for the FREH, (E18) &
year attributable to owners of the FREmUE
Company (E518) fag

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE

Total assets REE

Total liabilities Bak

Equity attributable to owners RATHEE AEEER
of the Company

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2020/21

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ZB--F —2-TFE T-NEFE —Z-N\F T —+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
224,839 224,228 210,596 193,973 171,116
36,457 26,535 23,474 712 16,065
(4,460) (4,923) (4,219) (2,858) (2,738)
31,997 21,612 19,255 (2,146) 13,327

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—B-—-F Z—T-TF —T-NF ZE-N\F ZT—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET FHET THET FHET
253,423 236,418 189,015 166,692 141,372
(61,612) (70,232) (44,880) (42,889) (41,975)
191,811 166,186 144,135 123,803 99,397
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